Old Dominion University ODU Digital Commons

Psychology Theses & Dissertations

Psychology

Winter 2018

A Single Campus Study of the Green Dot Bystander Intervention Program

Brittany F. Hollis Old Dominion University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/psychology_etds Part of the <u>Higher Education Commons</u>, <u>Psychology Commons</u>, and the <u>Public Health</u> <u>Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Hollis, Brittany F. "A Single Campus Study of the Green Dot Bystander Intervention Program" (2018). Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), dissertation, Psychology, Old Dominion University, DOI: 10.25777/nxdf-fe81 https://digitalcommons.odu.edu/psychology_etds/84

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Psychology at ODU Digital Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in Psychology Theses & Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ODU Digital Commons. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@odu.edu.



A SINGLE CAMPUS STUDY OF THE GREEN DOT BYSTANDER INTERVENTION

PROGRAM

by

Brittany F. Hollis B.S. May 2013, Old Dominion University M.S. December 2015, Old Dominion University

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Old Dominion University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

PSYCHOLOGY

OLD DOMINION UNIVERSITY December 2018

Approved by:

Michelle L. Kelley (Director)

Abby L. Braitman (Member)

Wendi White (Member)



ABSTRACT

A SINGLE CAMPUS STUDY OF THE GREEN DOT BYSTANDER INTERVENTION PROGRAM

Brittany F. Hollis Old Dominion University, 2018 Director: Dr. Michelle L. Kelley

Sexual assault is a serious public health issue that is especially problematic on college campuses. To combat sexual violence on college campuses prevention programs have been instituted by many universities. One such prevention program, the Green Dot program, works to teach students what constitutes sexual violence and how to prevent it by increasing bystander intervention. The current study examined the effectiveness of Green Dot at a large southeastern university. The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) was used as the theoretical framework. TPB examines how efficacy, attitudes, and norms influence behavior. Students were recruited to participate in the Green Dot program via the Women's Center. Green Dot participants were asked to complete a survey before Green Dot, one-week after, and a one-month follow-up. Hierarchical linear modeling (HLM) was used to examine the data longitudinally. It was hypothesized that participants in Green Dot training would increase bystander behaviors, efficacy, and attitudes, as well as social sexual norm perceptions. Results using HLM indicate that there were significant differences between the comparison and experimental group, such that the comparison group has higher bystander efficacy scores. Additionally, men and women differed significantly on the perceived social sexual behaviors of the average male on campus, such that men had more positive perceived sexual norms for the average male on campus. Although small findings, this research is important in understanding how to safely intervene in possible instances of power-based violence, which is critical in preventing sexual violence.



Copyright, 2018, by Brittany F. Hollis, All Rights Reserved.



This dissertation is dedicated to the women who have inspired and supported me throughout my life and graduate career.



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There are many people who have helped make this dream a reality for me. Dr. Kelley, my academic advisor, has been an inspiration to me throughout this journey. She is a role model, an amazing writer and editor, and champion of everyone who has the pleasure of working with her. Dr. Braitman has helped me beyond belief, not only is she another role model, but her knowledge of statistics has been invaluable. Throughout my time at ODU she has always extended a helping hand to me and others in need. Wendi White, who was the coordinator of the Green Dot program at ODU during the inception of this study, has been gracious and welcoming to me and my research topic. Her kindness and strong feministic values are a beacon of light during a dark time. Additionally, I thank the Women's Center on campus who were gracious enough to help me collect data. The staff and volunteers at the Women's Center work tirelessly to make campus a better and safer place for everyone. Also, Dr. Dorothy Edwards, was kind enough to let me train as a Green Dot Campus instructor. And special thanks to Sarah Ehlke, Cody Raeder, and Brooke Puharic who helped with coding and fidelity. Additionally, this study was funded by the Student Engagement and Enrollment Services on campus, without their help and the help of Tom Madison, none of this would have been possible.

It takes a village to support someone through graduate school and there are many people in my village. I am lucky to be surrounded by many women inside and outside of this program who have made this possible. It would take days to list them all, but I want to acknowledge my mother has always been in my corner and always will be. My fur babies (Penny Lane and Sargent Pepper) who can make any problem disappear. And of course, my female friends who are strong women that lift me up. I stand on the shoulders of many extraordinary women without whom I would never have dreamed I would be here.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

		vi	

Page

LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
INTRODUCTION	1
DEFINITIONS	1
LAWS TARGETING THE PREVENTION OF SEXUAL VIOLENCE	2
REPORTING SEXUAL VIOLENCE ON COLLEGE CAMPUSES	4
BYSTANDER INTERVENTION PROGRAMS	6
GREEN DOT SEXUAL VIOLENCE BYSTANDER PREVENTION PRO	OGRAM
THE THEORY OF PLANNED BEHAVIOR	
ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES	16
HYPOTHESES	
ADVANTAGES	
METHODOLOGY	
PARTICIPANTS	
COMPARISON GROUP	
COMPENSATION	
INFORMATION GIVEN AT ON-CAMPUS EVENTS	30
PROCEDURE	30
EXPLANATION OF GREEN DOT TRAINING	
FIDELITY	
MEASURES	33
	4.4
BRIEF OVERVIEW OF THE STATISTICAL MODEL	
BIVARIATE CORRELATIONS	
HLM MODEL RESULTS	
DESCRIPTIVE INFORMATION ON THE QUALITATIVE RESPONSE	۲۱ ک ^ر
EXPLORATORY ANALYSES	
CONCLUSIONS	96
DISCUSSION OF RESULTS	96
OUALITATIVE DATA	100
IMPLICATIONS FOR GREEN DOT	104
LIMITATIONS	105
FUTURE DIRECTIONS	105
CONCLUSION	107



REFERENCES		111
APPENDICES		123
A. SCRIPT FOR E-MAIL AND COMMUNICATION WITH	STUDENTS	123
B. NOTIFICATION STATEMENT		125
C. ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES		127
D. SEXUAL SOCIAL NORMS INVENTORY (MALE)		129
E. SEXUAL SOCIAL NORMS INVENTORY (FEMALE)		130
F. BYSTANDER SELF-EFFICACY		132
G. BYSTANDER ATITUDES		133
H. BYSTANDER BEHAVIOR VIGNETTES		134
I. BYSTANDER BEHAVIORS		139
J. DEMOGRAPHICS		140
K. RESOURCES		144
L. DEBREIFING		147
M. TRAINER FIDELITY CHECKLIST		148
VITA		151



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page
1. Graphic Representation of the Materials Covered in the Green Dot Program2
2. Theory of Planned Behavior
3. Graphic Representation of Hypothesis 1
4. Graphic Representation of Hypothesis 2a19
5. Graphic Representation of Hypothesis 2b20
6. Graphic Representation of Hypothesis 2c21
7. Hypotheses of Adverse Childhood Experiences & Knowing Survivor
8. Retention Rates for the Intervention and Comparison Group25
9. Bystander Behavior Mean Scores over Time
10. Bystander Efficacy Mean Scores over Time63
11. Bystander Attitude Mean Scores over Time67
12. Social Sexual Norms Mean Scores over Time for Average Male on Campus71
13. Social Sexual Norms Mean Scores over Time for Average Female on Campus75



LIST OF TABLES

Table	ge
1. Demographic Information on the Green Dot Participants at Pre-test	26
2. Coding Scheme for Qualitative Data	42
3. Combination Categories for Qualitative Data	43
4. Miscellaneous Qualitative Categories	43
5. Overview of Analyses for Each Hypothesis	45
6. Dummy Coding	46
7. Descriptive Information about Variables	47
8. <i>t</i> -test for Difference between Experimental and Comparison Group at Baseline on Demographic Variables	48
9. Bivariate Correlations	53
10. The Unconditional Model for Bystander Behavior	56
11. Results of Deviance Test for Bystander Behavior	57
12. The Fixed Effects Model for Bystander Behavior	58
13. The Unconditional Model for Bystander Efficacy	60
14. Results of the Deviance Test for Bystander Efficacy	61
15. The Fixed Effects Model for Bystander Efficacy	62
16. The Unconditional Model for Bystander Attitudes	64
17. Results for the Deviance Test for Bystander Attitudes	65
18. The Fixed Effects Model for Bystander Attitude	66
19. The Unconditional Mode for social Sexual Norms (Average Male on Campus)	68
20. Results of the Deviance Test for Social Sexual Norms (Average Male on Campus)	69



21. The Fixed Effects Model Social Sexual Norms for the Average Male on Campus70
22. The Unconditional Model for Social Sexual Norms (Average Female on Campus)72
23. Results of Deviance Test for Social Sexual Norms (Average Female on Campus)73
24. The Effects Model for Social Sexual Norms for the Average Female on Campus74
25. Frequency and Percentage of Qualitative Responses Across all Three Assessment Points
26. Frequency and Percentage of Qualitative Responses for Relationship with Perpetrator and Survivor
27. Frequency and Percentage of Qualitative Responses Across all Three Types of Power-Based Violence
28. Chi-square for Reported Bystander Behavior & Scenario
29. Linear Regression Results for Exploratory Hypotheses



CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

The Center for Disease Control (CDC) defines sexual violence as a sexual act committed against an individual without that person's freely given consent (Basile, Smith, Breiding, Black, & Mahendra, 2014). Sexual violence is a massive public health issue in the United States with one in five women reporting rape in their lifetime (Banyard & Moynihan, 2011; Banyard, Moynihan, Walsh, Cohn, & Ward, 2010; Basile et al., 2014; Cook-Craig, Millspaugh et al., 2014). Sexual violence is especially problematic for college women who are at high risk of experiencing sexual violence (Brown, Banyard, & Moynihan, 2014). In fact, approximately 20 to 25 percent of college women experience rape or attempted rape during their undergraduate careers (Hatten, 2017; Muehlenhard, Peterson, Humphreys, & Jozkowski, 2017). Further, the costs of sexual violence are staggering. Each act of sexual violence is hypothesized to cost approximately \$87,000 to \$122,461 in loss of productivity, quality of life, and healthcare expenses (Hatten, 2017; Miller, Cohen, & Wiersema, 1996; World Health Organization, 2013; Peterson, DeGue, Florence, & Lokey, 2017). Given the frequency with which undergraduate women experience sexual violence on college campuses, the mental health and economic costs of sexual violence, and the effect sexual violence can have on the retention rate of students, numerous prevention programs have been developed. In the present study, the effectiveness of a specific violence prevention program (i.e., Green Dot), designed to increase bystander intervention, was examined.

Definitions

Sexual violence encompasses many behaviors. For simplicity, in the present study, sexual violence includes both sexual assault and rape. Of note, these terms are often used



interchangeably; however, they are different and for clarification and generalizability the following definitions are used. The CDC defines sexual assault as "unwanted sexual contact which consists of touching in a sexual nature, oral sex, sexual intercourse, anal sex, or penetration with a finger or object" (Krebs, Lindquist, Warner, Fisher, & Martin, 2009, p. 641). The Bureau of Justice Statistics defines rape as forced vaginal, anal, or oral penetration. Figure 1 is a graphic representation of power-based violence and the material covered in the Green Dot program. For clarification, Green Dot works to prevent all power-based violence (stalking, dating violence, and sexual assault). However, this study focused solely on the sexual assault prevention aspect of Green Dot.



Figure 1. Graphic representation of power-based violence (the material covered during the Green Dot Program). Note that stalking, dating violence, and sexual violence all are interrelated, but for parsimony they are represented separately in this graph.

Laws Targeting the Prevention of Sexual Violence on College Campuses

In 1972, Congress passed Title IX, enforced by the Office of Civil Rights within the U.S.

Department of Education, states that, "no person will be denied educational benefits based on



sex" (Congress, 1972; Henrick, 2013). Additionally, in 1998 the Jeanne Clery amendments to the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) of 1994, mandated that colleges and universities must provide policies to the public about education and awareness of crime, which includes sexual violence (Azimi & Daigle, 2017). Of note, at the participating university, annual reports indicate that there were four, ten, and six on-campus rapes reported to police in the years 2013, 2014, and 2015, respectively (*Annual Security and Fire Safety Report*, 2016). Moreover, if an institution fails to fulfill its Title IX requirements they can be financially penalized by losing federal funding (Henrick, 2013), and currently, 106 colleges and universities are currently under investigation for Title IX violations (Azimi & Daigle, 2017). Of concern, no school has yet to lose federal funding, or experience any consequence, for not adhering to Title IX guidance.

Under the Obama administration, the White House established the Task Force to Protect Students from Sexual Assault (2013) with the goal of identifying the scope of the problem on college campuses. The Task Force published guidance (which clarifies the regulations of Title IX, but does not carry the weight of a law) that federally funded schools work to prevent and respond effectively to sexual assault (Coker et al., 2015; McMahon et al., 2015b). The implementation of this guidance looks different depending on the institution. For example, the *participating university* presents a brief video and group discussion during freshman preview about what constitutes sexual assault, dating violence, and stalking, and how to help create a campus community that does not accept sexual violence. Although this brief presentation is on the first Saturday morning that students are on campus. Also, the program is approximately 30 minutes long. Given the brevity of the program, it is unlikely that students who attend the program truly understand the many ways in which sexual assault can occur, the different ways to prevent or



3

reduce it, and how to address sexual violence when it does occur. Although there are improvements to be made, the Women's Center at the participating university works assiduously year-round to bring awareness campaigns and events to the campus that aim to help prevent and stop sexual violence.

The current research is vital, especially in the present political climate. As noted above, during the Obama administration there were advances made for holding schools accountable and making sure that survivors of sexual violence were given necessary resources (Bolger & Brodsky, 2017). However, the current administration does not share the same agenda. Education secretary, Betsy DeVos, has recently rolled back Obama-era guidance on Title IX, citing that there is not enough due process for perpetrators (Tatum, 2017). The guidance serves as a recommendation to colleges and universities as to how to conduct investigations and hearings (Tatum, 2017). Essentially, DeVos, and the current administration, believe the Obama administration went too far in protect the due process of the accused (Bolger & Brodsky, 2017). This assumption is incorrect, as the Obama administration's guidance for schools provided rights for all parties involved (Bolger & Brodsky, 2017). It is important to protect the safety of all students, which is why Title IX is incredibly important.

Reporting Sexual Violence on College Campuses

Title IX and VAWA were put in place partially to help end campus sexual violence, and are vital in helping survivors and increasing report rates of campus sexual violence (Basile et al., 2014; Koss, 1992). According to the Rape, Abuse, & Incest National Network (RAINN) only 20 percent of college students report sexual assault to law enforcement. Further, the Climate Survey on Sexual Assault and Sexual misconduct found a 5-28% report rate based on results across 27



universities conducted via the Association for American Universities (Cantor et al., 2015). There are many reasons why sexual violence is not reported. One reason survivors may not report sexual assault is that in popular culture rapists are often depicted as strangers who hide behind the bushes; however, this is rarely the case (DeMaria et al., 2015). In the majority of sexual assault cases the perpetrator is known to the survivor (Hatten, 2017; Kendrick, Apenyo, & Callender Highlander, 2017). In fact, the National College Women's Sexual Violence Study (NCVS) found that 90% of sexual assault survivors knew their perpetrator prior to the assault (Fisher, Cullen, & Turner, 2000; Hatten, 2017). Due to the inconsistency in what is often portrayed in the media as rape and actual experiences of rape, when an assault does not fit the stranger in the bushes scenario, many survivors may not be certain that what they experienced was rape.

The prevalence of sexual assault on college campuses may be the result of fewer authorities present (i.e., parents, teachers), high levels of alcohol and drug use, Greek life, frequent partying, and the desire to fit in (Azimi & Daigle, 2017). Thus, the college environment, being a target rich environment, may contribute to the high levels of sexual violence across college campuses in the United States (Azimi & Daigle, 2017). For example, the participating university made news headlines in the fall of 2015, when fraternity members hung banners on their balconies during freshman drop-off day that read, "Rowdy and fun. Hope your babygirl is ready for a good time," "Freshman drop-off here," and "Go ahead and drop mom off too" (Giraldi, 2016). This is an example of Greek life impacting the perception of sexual violence on a college campus. Demeaning and disrespectful comments about women may contribute to perceptions that this type of behavior is acceptable. In turn, behaviors such as those illustrated may increase sexual violence through normalization, reduce the number of survivors who are



willing to report these behaviors, and potentially reduce the number of people willing to be active bystanders (Giraldi, 2016).

Another reason that survivors may not come forward is due to fear of secondary traumatization by the justice system. A recent documentary (i.e., "The Hunting Ground"), detailed the impact of sexual assault on college campuses and the impact sexual assault has on (predominantly) women. The audience witnesses how survivors are ignored by universities and, even worse, blamed for their assaults. Further, perpetrators are often given merely a slap on the wrist at most (e.g., see the People V. Turner case at Stanford University; Dick, 2015). Collectively, it is easy to understand that many women do not report sexual violence that occurs on campus for fear of not being believed, being ostracized, not understanding what exactly constitutes sexual violence, and so forth (Wilson & Miller, 2016). There are many reasons survivors do not report or come forward. The reasons mentioned above merely scratch the surface. For example, the participating university is a Minority Serving Institution, therefore, there may be cultural implications for not reporting assaults. Although each survivors' reasons are important it is not within the scope of this paper to include and discuss all of them. With these many hindrances to reporting sexual assault, reversing Title IX guidance will only make it harder for survivors to report and get the help they need.

Bystander Intervention Programs and the Reduction of Sexual Violence on College Campuses

It is clear that encouraging survivors to report sexual violence is not a sufficient method for decreasing sexual assault on campus. Prevention programs are an essential component to reduce campus sexual violence because they work to curtail sexual violence before it begins. To



develop effective interventions, it is critical to understand what encourages or hinders individuals from intervening to prevent violence.

Research into bystander behavior began in the 60's with Darley and Latane (1968), who sought to understand what motivates someone to intervene in an emergency, a crime, or violent situation. A bystander is a witness to a crime, but whom is not directly involved as a survivor or a perpetrator (Banyard & Moynihan, 2011). Investigators determined that individuals feel more inhibited and less personally responsible for intervening in an emergency when there are others around. This phenomenon is known as diffusion of responsibility (Darley & Latane, 1968; Hatten, 2017). This research, combined with the call form the White House Task Force on the need for research into the most effective manner to prevent sexual violence (McMahon et al., 2015b), has led to the creation of bystander intervention programs that are designed to reduce sexual assault (Coker et al., 2015; Cook-Craig, Coker, et al., 2014; Cook-Craig, Millspaugh, et al., 2014).

Bystander intervention programs seek to help bring awareness to the topic of interpersonal violence and give students' tools to be active bystanders to prevent the occurrence of sexual violence (Banyard, 2008; Cook-Craig, Millspaugh, et al., 2014). Specifically, bystander interventions work to achieve violence prevention by challenging the norms around sexual behavior and against intervening, and thus, increasing actual bystander behavior (Banyard, Moynihan, & Crossman, 2009; Coker et al., 2015). Bystander behavior includes everything from participating in dialogue that challenges the norm of violence, to removing someone from a highrisk situation, to supporting a survivor of violence (Banyard et al., 2009). A decision for someone to engage in bystander behavior first involves awareness of the problem and a feeling of responsibility for intervening (Banyard & Moynihan, 2011; Banyard et al., 2009). The



decision also involves a cost benefit analysis to determine if the positive outcomes outweigh the negative (Banyard et al., 2009). And finally, bystander behavior involves deciding on a course of action (Banyard & Moynihan, 2011; Banyard et al., 2009).

Bystander interventions have gained considerable attention as results show these interventions may increase bystander behavior or intention (or the likelihood of intervening in the future; Banyard, 2008; Cook-Craig, Coker, et al., 2014). Bystander interventions are built on the basis that as individuals are made more aware of the problem of power-based violence on campus and what behaviors constitute aggressive behavior, their previous notions and acceptance of violence will change. The goal is to begin to shift bystander perceptions or attitudes to become less accepting and tolerant of violence and aggression, and to create social consensus supporting intervention (Banyard, 2008). It is expected that this paradigm shift is then translated into action via bystander behaviors.

Green Dot Sexual Violence Bystander Prevention Program

One intervention program that preliminary research has found to positively affect student bystander behavior is Green Dot (Coker et al., 2015). Green Dot is a bystander intervention program developed by Dr. Dorothy Edward in 2007 (Coker et al., 2015). The Green Dot program has been implemented in many universities across the United States and the world, including Canada, Italy, Portugal, and Japan ("Live the Green Dot," 2017). Green Dot seeks to create new social models of bystander behavior through students' contact and engagement with others (Cook-Craig et al., 2014). More specifically, Green Dot seeks to increase the awareness of power-based violence, as well as discuss behaviors that can be used to intervene safely and reduce risk in aggressive power-based situations (Cook-Craig et al., 2014). The name Green Dot comes from a description during training of a map with red dots on it. These red dots are acts of



power-based aggression or violence, a neutral dot is an individual that does not intervene in an aggressive situation, and a green dot is a person who acts as an active bystander to end or proactively avoid a violent situation (Kendrick et al., 2017). In the program, students are shown how to lower the rates of power-based violence via instructions on how to safely intervene during violent or potentially violent situations, and how to become a "green dot" among "red dots" (Kendrick et al., 2017).

Diffusion of Innovation. Green Dot recruitment is based on the Diffusion of Innovation theory, which posits that innovation of an idea or norm can spread through a population by targeting those with the most visibility, or leaders in the group, to endorse the idea or norm (Rogers, 1983). The premise is that these leaders will then diffuse the idea or norm to the rest of the population (Roger, 1983). This model is used by Green Dot to assist in widespread dissemination of bystander behaviors. That is, Green Dot specifically recruits leaders (i.e., athletes, club presidents, etc.) at a specific college or university first, as it is believed that this is the most effective way to diffuse the principles of Green Dot to the larger university campus. After leader's participate in the program, it is then disseminated to the rest of the student body. Green Dot identifies early adopters (known as Popular Opinion Leaders [POL]) by asking key informants to nominate students on campus (Cook-Craig et al., 2014). This strategy has its roots in HIV prevention (Kelly et al., 1991) and is a unique and novel feature of the Green Dot program (Cook-Craig et al., 2014).

Five steps of the Green Dot program. The Green Dot intervention program involves several steps that work to gradually explain the depth of power-based violence while familiarizing students with the concept of being an active bystander (White, 2016). There are five steps that are fundamental to Green Dot: invite, inspire, engage, strengthen, and sustain.



Invite people to reconsider their role in prevention (i.e., encourage active bystander behavior). *Inspire* individuals to understand that one small act can make a huge difference. *Engage* the audience by being personable and authentic, as well as including group activity work. *Strengthen* the intervention with follow-up boosters. And *sustain* the idea that violence will not be tolerated, and everyone is expected to do their part in maintaining a peaceful environment.

Outline of the Green Dot Program. The following is an outline of the actual Green Dot program given to students. Facilitators begin the program with introductions and activities to get students involved. The concept of being a green dot instead of a red or neutral dot is explained. Awareness is brought to the problem of power-based violence, not only in the frequency with which it occurs on college campuses, but awareness as to what constitutes power-based violence. Once the concepts of power-based violence are explained, detailed strategies are then discussed via scenarios and vignettes. This application gives students the tools they need to safely intervene when they encounter similar situations.

Following are the discussion points of the program. The first discussion point during the program is barriers to action. These include general obstacles, such as the diffusion of responsibility, and personal traits that may impact one's willingness to intervene, such as being shy. Throughout the Green Dot program barriers to intervention are acknowledged (e.g., not knowing if the situation is consensual, fear of ruining someone's good time, and so forth). Green Dot strives to communicate positively with students and meet them where they are, meaning it is not assumed that all students who attend the program results in merely the potential willingness to agree to possibly intervene in power-based situations. However, Green Dot recognizes that some students may have little to no readiness to change. The lack of a desire to change is acceptable



because participants are getting exposure to concept of power-based violence and how to intervene, which is the first step in changing norms. Further, the program recognizes that if a participant is approached in a forceful way, they may not listen (Hoxmeier, Flay, & Acock, 2016), which is why Green Dot creates an environment of open, non-argumentative, and safe discussion.

The next part of the training then equips individuals with three specific types of Green Dot behaviors, and these are the three D's: Direct, Delegate, and Distract. *Direct*, is direct intervention of the behavior, such as saying something if you are worried that someone may be too drunk to consent to sex. *Delegate* is involving others to help attenuate the situation, for example, asking a friend to check on someone you feel may be in a violent situation. And lastly, *distracting* is a covert diffusion of the situation like asking someone you feel is being taken advantage of, to help you with something (i.e., finding the restroom) to divert them from the situation.

Definitions (from Green Dot curriculum training manual; gd 2.0 college strategy) Direct: do something yourself.

Delegate: if you can't do something yourself ask friends to help, talk to a trusted RA, coach, faculty or staff member, or a trusted peer.

Distract: if you don't want to address the situation directly or even acknowledge you see it, try to think of a distraction that will defuse the situation or calm things down in the moment.

The final step of the program is to have participants sign a pledge that they will do or say something when they see a potential red dot, to encourage friends to do the same, and to support survivors of power-based violence.



Research on Green Dot. Research on the effectiveness of Green Dot is still in its infancy. According to the Green Dot website, there are three published articles examining Green Dot as an intervention, as well as four studies underway ("Live the Green Dot," 2017). Two of the three published studies merely discuss the procedural foundation of Green Dot and the beginning stages of implementation (Cook-Craig, Coker, et al., 2014; Cook-Craig, Millspaugh, et al., 2014). The third study examined the effectiveness of Green Dot on three college campuses. Compared to campuses that did not implement Green Dot, male and female participants on the campus that did implement it reported lower rates of power-based violence perpetration and victimization (Coker et al., 2015). However, Coker et al. (2015) was limited because it was cross-sectional, therefore, it cannot be determined that receiving the intervention caused differences between the students at campuses that received Green Dot versus students at campuses that did not. Additionally, in the experimental condition, the implementation of Green Dot was not equivalent for all participants as some participants did not receive all of the training. With these limitations, it is still important to see the potential in Green Dot bystander training. The current study is an in-depth longitudinal analysis of Green Dot on a college campus.

The Theory of Planned Behavior as a Theoretical Explanation for Bystander Intervention

Theoretical explanations for behavior change are vital to understanding the effectiveness of bystander intervention. One well-established theory that helps predict change in behavior is the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB; Ajzen, 1991). According to the TPB, future behavior is predicted by one's perceived ability to intervene (i.e., efficacy), attitude towards the behavior, and the perceived social norms about the behavior (Ajzen, 1991). All three areas (efficacy, attitude, and norms) need to be addressed to change future behavior.



In the present study bystander efficacy, bystander attitudes, and sexual norms are examined as potential avenues for behavior change. The TPB is a theoretical model that has been used in the intervention literature to predict intervention in situations of cyberbullying (Bastiaensens et al., 2014; DeSmet et al., 2014) and to examine the difference between those who do and do not intervene in high-risk situations (Hoxmeier et al., 2016). The TPB has also been used to predict bystander behavior in power-based violence situations (McMahon et al., 2015b), school violence (Stueve et al., 2006), and the impact emotions play on behaviors (Tangney, Stuewig, & Mashek, 2007). The TPB helps explain the willingness to intervene in an instance of potential power-based violence (see Figure 2).



Figure 2. Theory of planned behavior as adapted for bystander behaviors in the current study

Bystander efficacy. Green Dot's 3 D's; direct intervention, delegating actual action to another, and distracting the perpetrator or survivor in order to stop the incident, are types of bystander actions (White, 2016). The decision to engage in these actions or behaviors and determine which course of action to take is highly dependent on one's confidence in completing the task (Banyard et al., 2009; McMahon et al., 2015b). This confidence is referred to as



bystander efficacy. Bystander efficacy is vital as it is related to bystander behavior (Banyard, Eckstein, et al., 2010; Banyard et al., 2009). Banyard (2008) found that higher levels of perceived effectiveness or confidence as a bystander was positively correlated with willingness to intervene and actual bystander behavior in power-based situations in a sample of college students.

Bystander attitude. In addition to having confidence in one's ability to intervene effectively, bystander attitudes have a large impact on actual behavior (Hoxmeier et al., 2016). Attitudes are how favorable or unfavorable one perceives a behavior to be, and are necessary in predicting behavior (Ajzen, 1991). In a sample of over 800 undergraduates, Hoxmeier et al. (2016) found that those who reported more bystander behavior had higher positive attitudes toward intervening and greater bystander efficacy. According to the TPB (Ajzen, 1991), both bystander efficacy and attitudes are important to examine when predicting behavior.

Social sexual norms. The TPB states that predicting behavior not only involves attitude and efficacy, but also perceived social norms (Ajzen, 1991). Social norms are rules, guidelines, and expectations understood by members of a certain group (Hatten, 2017). Students often share common norms (Azimi & Daigle, 2017). Therefore, it is important that bystander interventions focus on changing norms that surround violent or aggressive behaviors (Banyard, Eckstein, et al., 2010), not only to inhibit future perpetration, but also to change norms around actually intervening. As social entities, a person's decision to intervene is highly related to the extent that their immediate community or environment supports their decision (Berkowitz, 2010; Gidycz, Orchowski, & Berkowitz, 2011).

The college environment plays a large role in the development of normative sexual beliefs (Gidycz et al., 2011). There is a common misperception that other college students are



14

more sexually active than they really are, and that others approve of rape supportive norms, when that is not the case (Gidycz et al., 2011). Unfortunately, intentions to intervene are often related to the perceived rape supportive norms of others (Banyard et al., 2009). Peers have an 'informal social control' by expressing approval or disapproval to violations of the norm, and that carry weight in an individual's decision to act (Brown et al., 2014). Research has shown that male peer norms that are supportive of coercive sexual behavior toward women are predictive of an increasing rate of sexual violence (Brown et al., 2014; Schwartz & DeKeseredy, 1997; Schwartz, DeKeseredy, Tait, & Alvi, 2001). Further, perceived peer support for sexual violence is negatively correlated with intervening (Brown & Messman-Moore, 2010). Additionally, men's willingness to intervene is strongly related to their perceptions of their peers willingness to intervene is strongly related to their perceptions of their peers willingness to intervene (Fabiano, Perkins, Berkowitz, Linkenbach, & Stark, 2003).

Although peers can be a negative influence, that is, they can support use of coercive or other forms of non-consensual sexual behavior, but peers can also play a positive role in bystander behaviors. Peers are important in one's decision to intervene in a type of "informal helping" (Brown et al., 2014). For instance, Brown and colleagues (2014) found that the more students believed their peers supported bystander intervention, the more willing they were to intervene against sexual violence. Peer support for intervening is also related to bystander efficacy (Hatten, 2017). Hatten (2017) found that when participants are led to believe their peers approve of intervening, they report much higher willingness to intervene. Further, these students also report higher bystander efficacy when compared to those who were told their peers disapprove of intervening. Normative social sexual beliefs are important in one's social acceptance of sexual aggression and also in their decision to intervene.



Individuals often perceive the norm of specific behaviors or attitudes, among their peers, to be more negative than is the case (Bruner, 2003; Darlington, 2014). For example, students often overestimate the amount of alcohol their peers consume (Bruner, 2003). The disparity between actual and perceived norms is thought to influence behavior (Darlington, 2014). The current study looked at the perception of normative attitudes of student's peers in order to examine the relationship between norms and actual behavior within the framework of TPB.

Sex and bystander behaviors. There are different patterns of bystander behavior between men and women (Palmer, Nicksa, & McMahon, 2016). Women are more likely than men to experience sexual assault and more likely to indirectly intervene (Palmer et al., 2016), Men, on the other hand, are more likely to directly intervene and to think that sexual assault is not a problem on campus (DeMaria et al., 2015). Women, also note feeling fearful on campus, and creating strategies to avoid sexually violent situations (i.e., never walking alone at night; DeMaria et al., 2015). Although men and women have different experiences on campus, and men are often perpetrators of sexual violence, it is vital in bystander training to treat men as potential bystanders as opposed to potential perpetrators, and women as potential bystanders instead of potential survivors (DeMaria et al., 2015). Prevention strategies that operate in this manner show significant results of lower reported post-intervention violence levels for men (Coker et al., 2015). By including men as part of the solution the intervention momentum gains more participants, as well as, gaining men who can influence other men who may be in high risk situations. For this reason, both men and women participate in Green Dot. Further, sex was included in the models as a control variable.

Additionally, research shows that there are many different demographic variables that play an important role in an individual's decision to be an active bystander (Amar, Sutherland, &



Laughon, 2014; Brown et al., 2014; Diamond-Welch, Hetzel-Riggin, & Hemingway, 2016; Fabiano et al., 2003; Gable, Lamb, Brodt, & Atwell, 2017; Kilmartin et al., 2008). For example, Brown et al. (2014) found in an undergraduate sample of 232 students that a) women reported more bystander intentions than did men, and b) Black students reported more bystander behaviors than White students. Another study by Diamond-Welch and colleagues (2016), found that year in school mediated the association between race, gender, and bystander behavior. Although these variables are important to examine, the current study did not analyze these variables due to the small sample size.

Adverse Childhood Experiences

There are other risks for experiencing sexual assault aside from the college environment. The most significant predictor of unwanted sexual experiences for women in college is previous abuse or sexual assault (Smith, White, & Holland, 2003). Survivors of adult sexual violence are more likely to have experienced previous childhood/adolescent abuse compared to individuals who have not experienced adult sexual violence (Jewkes, Flood, & Lang, 2015). The concept of revictimization has been thoroughly studied and replicated many times over, and indicates that trauma in childhood and adolescence is highly predictive of later adult trauma (Azimi & Daigle, 2017; Littleton & Decker, 2016; Messman-Moore & Long, 2003; Messman-Moore, Walsh, & DiLillo, 2010). This accumulation of trauma in childhood until the age of 18 is known as Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE). Chronic exposure to ACEs is associated with many negative health symptoms in adulthood, and these can have long-term and enduring effects over a lifetime (Reuben et al., 2016; Thompson et al., 2015). Although ACEs are important factors to note when studying survivors, they have yet to be examined in relation to the willingness of a bystander to intervene in instances of power-based violence.



Further, research on bystanders with previous abuse, or knowledge of someone who has been abused, is extremely limited. However, McMahon (2010) found in a sample of incoming undergraduates that students who knew someone that had been sexually assaulted were more willing to intervene than those who did not. Additionally, Banyard (2008) found in an undergraduate sample, that individuals who had more prosocial attitudes, higher bystander efficacy, knew someone who was a survivor of sexual violence, and had taken a class on sexual violence expressed greater bystander willingness to intervene than those that had not. Although these are important findings, there is a dearth of information on previous histories of bystanders and ACE connections with bystander behavior (Banyard, 2008). Additionally, there is little known about the potential connection between knowing a survivor of sexual trauma and bystander behavior. For this reason, ACEs and having a connection with someone who is a survivor of sexual trauma, was explored in the current study.

Hypotheses

The current study sought to examine the effectiveness of Green Dot, while also assessing related predictors of bystander behavior.

Hypothesis 1: Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander behavior for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Figure 3).





Figure 3. Hypothesis 1: Expected bystander behavior over time



In congruence with the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), the current hypotheses tested whether Green Dot increased bystander efficacy, attitudes, and lower perceived negative social sexual norms.

Hypothesis 2a: Green Dot would significantly increase bystander efficacy for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Figure 4).



Figure 4. Hypothesis 2a: Expected bystander efficacy over time



Hypothesis 2b: Participation in Green Dot would significantly increase positive bystander attitudes for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Figure 5).



Figure 5. Hypothesis 2b: Expected bystander attitudes over time



Hypothesis 2c: Participation in Green Dot would significantly increase positive perceived social sexual norms for the average male and female on campus for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Figure 6).



Figure 6. Hypothesis 2c: Expected social sexual norms over time



As a research question, previous ACEs and connections to someone who a survivor of sexual trauma were examined as predictors of bystander behaviors. Due to the lack of previous research on how ACEs may be associated with bystander behavior, a directional hypothesis was not made. It is hypothesized, however, based on Banyard (2008) that participants who know someone who is a survivor of sexual trauma would be more likely to intervene (see Figure 7).

Exploratory hypothesis 1a: ACEs would significantly predict bystander behavior.

Exploratory hypothesis 1b: Knowing someone who has experienced sexual trauma would be significantly and positively associated with bystander behavior.



Figure 7. Relationships between adverse childhood experiences (ACE) and knowing someone who has experienced sexual trauma and bystander behavior (Exploratory Hypothesis 1a & 1b). Note the dotted line indicates no directional hypothesis.

Qualitative component. In addition to collecting data on bystander behaviors, efficacy,

attitudes, and norms, the current study also collected qualitative information on the 3 D's.

Specifically, participants were given three vignettes with power-based violence scenarios and



asked how they would respond. Answers were coded by two researchers. These results were explored to see how participants would respond to specific types of violence (i.e., sexual assault, domestic violence, and stalking). Given the lack of previous research, no directional hypotheses were tested, but chi-squares were conducted.

Advantages

The current study is unique in a multitude of ways. First, it is a longitudinal study which is often lacking in the literature (Hoxmeier et al., 2016). Second, it examined how childhood experiences and knowing a survivor of abuse or trauma affected bystander behavior, which is lacking in the literature. Third, it had a (small) comparison group. These variables are unique and important to understanding the effectiveness of bystander interventions over time, and how future bystander interventions can approach individuals who have, or know someone who has, a history of trauma.

The study also examined the effectiveness of Green Dot. Specifically, the results benefit the participating university, as well as contribute to the current literature on bystander behavior. Violence, and specifically sexual violence, is a serious problem and costly for many campuses across the United States. The prevention of sexual violence through bystander interventions may help change that problem and reverse the large burden placed on survivors. Sexual violence prevention research is important for the success of college students (Banyard et al., 2009) as power-based violence interferes with not only physical and mental health, but also academic success.



CHAPTER 2

METHODOLOGY

Participants

Participants were undergraduate women and men, who took part in the Green Dot program during the 2017-2018 academic year, at a large southeastern university (see Table 1 for demographic information); the comparison group consisted of students who signed up to be in Green Dot but did not attend the training (see Figure 8 for retention).

Experimental group. The group that went through Green Dot training (N = 94) is referred to as the experimental group. There were 65 participants (69.1% of the total experimental group) who took the pre-test, 46 of those took the one-week post-test, and 43 of those subjects who took the one-month follow-up. The rate of retention was 70.77% from pre-test to post-test and 66.16% from post-test to one-month follow-up.

Comparison group. The comparison group consisted of participants who signed up to participate in the Green Dot program, and took the online pre-test, but did not attend the Green Dot training. A total of 13 participants took the pre-test but did not attend the Green Dot training. Of these, 7 took the one-week post-test. These 7 participants also took the one-month follow-up. The retention rate for participants in the comparison group was 53.85% from pre-test to post-test and 53.85% from post-test to follow-up. The comparison group is not considered a true control group due to the lack of equivalent control. Meaning the non-experimental group gets no intervention (as opposed to an equivalent intervention). Therefore, it is considered a comparison group instead of a true control group.




Figure 8. Retention rates for the intervention and comparison group



Table 1

Demographic Info	ormation on the	Green Dot I	Participants ((N = 65) and	Comparison	Participants
(N = 13) at Pre-te	est					

		Experimental Mean (SD)	Comparison Mean (SD)
Age (in years)		21.2 (3.9)	20.08 (1.6)
Year in college		Frequency (%)	Frequency (%)
	Freshman	18 (27.7)	3 (23.1)
	Sophomore	10 (15.4)	3 (23.1)
	Junior	12 (18.5)	3 (23.1)
	Senior	22 (33.8)	4 (30.8)
	Post-bachelors	3 (4.6)	0 (0.0)
Biological sex			
	Male	16 (24.6)	0 (0.0)
	Female	49 (75.4)	13 (100)
Relationship status			
	Never dated	5 (7.8)	0 (0.0)
	Not currently dating	18 (28.1)	5 (38.5)
	Dating but not in a sexual or romantic relationship	10 (15.6)	4 (30.8)
	Dating or in a romantic/ sexual relationship but not	26 (40.6)	3 (23.1)
	Living with or married to partner	5 (7.8)	1 (7.7)
Student status			
	Full time	62 (95.4)	13 (100)
	Part time	3 (4.6)	0 (0.0)



Race	(option	to choose	more	than	1)
------	---------	-----------	------	------	---	---

	American Indian/Alaskan Native	5 (7.7)	1 (7.1)
	Asian	7 (10.8)	0 (0.0)
	Black/ African American	26 (40)	5 (35.7)
	Hispanic or Latina/o/x	6 (9.2)	2 (14.3)
	Native Hawaiian or Pacific Islander	4 (6.2)	0 (0.0)
	White	29 (44.6)	7 (50.0)
	Other	1 (1.5)	0 (0.0)
Sexual attraction			
Males	Only attracted to females	16 (100)	
Females	Only attracted to females	3 (6.1)	0 (0.0)
	Mostly attracted to females	1 (2.0)	0 (0.0)
	Equally attracted to males and females	2 (4.1)	1 (7.1)
	Mostly attracted to males	10 (20.4)	3 (21.4)
	Only attracted to males	33 (67.3)	9 (64.3)
Do you know anyone who and/or an adult?	o has been sexual abused/assaulted eitl	ner as a child	
	Yes	43 (72.9)	
	No	7 (11.9)	

Not sure

9 (15.3)

المنسارات

What is your obligation to intervene in aggressive or violent situations?

	1 = I am not obligated to intervene at all	1 (1.7)
	2	2 (3.4)
	3	15 (25.4)
	4	19 (32.2)
	5 = I am completely obligated to intervene in future aggressive or violent situations	22 (37.3)
What is the possibility that you v situations?	vill intervene in future aggressiv	ve or violent
	1 = it is not possible that I will intervene in future aggressive or violent situations	1 (1.7)
	2	1 (1.7)
	3	14 (23.7)
	4	19 (32.2)
	5 = it is possible that I will intervene in future	24 (40.7)

What is your responsibility to intervene in aggressive or violent situations?

ny 1 (1.7) to intervene in sive or violent
3 (5.2)
20 (34.5)
19 (32.8)
ble 15 (25.9) to intervene in sive or violent



Recruitment. Students were recruited by Women's Center staff at on-campus activities including the student involvement fairs (fall and spring), the "Walk A Mile" event, Green Dot day, and the Feminist Activist Fair. At these events, Women Center staff set up a table with information about the center, and upcoming activities. These tables also had a signup sheet to obtain student e-mail addresses. The Women's Center then followed up via e-mail and gave the student information on the next Green Dot training. This e-mail is where the researcher included a link to the pre-test (for recruitment communication please see the scripts on Appendix A and the Notification Statement in Appendix B). In addition, except for the first Green Dot training, the researcher was at all the trainings (two per semester or four in total) with paper copies of the pre-test in order to have students, who may have missed the e-mail complete, the pre-test.

Comparison Group

As noted above, the comparison group did not get the Green Dot training. These participants were recruited the same way as experimental group participants. Despite signing up to attend the Green Dot training, they did not attend the training. In addition to completing the pre-test, these students were invited to complete the one-week, and one-month follow-up, at the same intervals as the experimental group. Similar to the experimental group, they were e-mailed the pre-test, one-week, and one-month follow-up, respectively.

Compensation

All participants (experimental and comparison) were compensated for their time with online gift cards sent to them via e-mail after participation. The only exception was students who took the paper pre-tests before the first training session; they were paid \$5 cash for their participation. Reimbursement was \$5 for pre-test, \$10 for the post-test, and \$15 for the follow-



up, totaling \$30 for all three time points.¹ Although participants received \$30.00 upon completing all three surveys, this compensation amount seemed reasonable, and not coercive, given the time necessary to complete the surveys.

Information Given at On-Campus Events

The researcher assisted in the recruitment effort. At all events, the researcher talked with students and gave them information on Green Dot (for full script see Appendix Q). If a student expressed interest, the researcher encouraged them to sign up with the Women's Center. The researcher also gave them her e-mail address in case they had questions. Of note, due to restrictions from the Institutional Review Board at the participating university, the researcher was not allowed to collect any information from the students until they agreed to the notification statement at the beginning of the pre-test. Therefore, the researcher could not collect their e-mail addresses or reach out to them until the pre-test.

Once the Women's Center obtained a student's e-mail address, staff from the Women's Center e-mailed the potential participant about the next training, as well as the link to the pre-test with simple instructions. Upon completing the pre-test, the researcher was allowed to reach out to the participant. Therefore, in order to obtain the post-test and follow-up the researcher emailed (and texted) the student one week after the Green Dot training with the link to the posttest; one month later the participant was contacted (again via e-mail and text message) with the link to the follow-up.

Procedure

¹ Funding (\$1,500) for participant compensation was provided by Student Enrollment & Engagement Services (Tom Madison, budget manager). The researcher was also awarded the Alumni Association's Outstanding Scholar Scholarship award at Old Dominion University allotting \$1,500 for compensating participants.



Participants completed the initial survey prior to program participation. For data collection, participants were contacted every day (except weekends) after the initial e-mail about the post-test until they completed the post-test or one-month lapsed. Once follow-up collection began (i.e., after one month had passed), participants were contacted every day until 30 days had elapsed or the end of the semester (whichever came first).

Explanation of Green Dot Training

Green Dot is a comprehensive bystander intervention program that works to train participants on how to promote safety, tolerance, and nonviolence. It gets the name "Green Dot" from an exercise where participants are asked to imagine a map covered with red dots, which represent an act of violence. Individuals are asked to imagine green dots in the middle of the red dots, and these green dots are any behavior or action that promotes tolerance, safety, and nonviolence. For example, a green dot would be an individual who speaks up when someone around them tells a sexist joke. The goal is to increase the number of green dots and show participants how they can change the map of violence.

According to Green Dot, a bystander is any individual who sees or hears about a behavior that is harmful or violent. A passive bystander is someone who sees or hears about the violent behavior (i.e., a red dot) and does nothing, and on the other hand a green dot bystander is an individual who acts to decrease the likelihood of violent behavior. Green Dot works to increase awareness of red dot behaviors in the realm of sexual assault, domestic/dating violence, and stalking, and raising consciousness of everyone's responsibility to identify and engage in reducing violence (Cook-Craig, Millspaugh, et al., 2014).

Green Dot sessions included 23 students at the October training; 33 at the November training; 15 students at the February training; and 23 students at the March training (total of 94);



and took 6 hours to complete. At the participating university, the Green Dot program is split into two nights to keep the students from being overburdened with information. The Green Dot philosophy is that to reduce violence there needs to be a culture shift or getting a critical mass of people on campus to publicly support and engage in active bystander behavior. As this can seem daunting, one of the goals of the program is to show individuals that isolation and inaction is not an option; culture shift begins at the individual level. Green Dot diffuses innovation and information through social networks and is focused on a grass roots cultural shift (Coker et al., 2015).

At the sessions, there is food and small prizes that students can win, which encourages involvement. The training session begins with introductions and helping the students get acquainted. Additionally, everyone anonymously writes down the reason that they are at the training and these are read out loud throughout the two-night session. After this, one of the trainers tells their personal story and how they have been impacted by power-based violence. Next, the term bystander is explained to the students, and they are given actions to take in power-based aggressive situations, as well as resources. The students are taught the 3 D's (distract, delegate, direct) and real-world examples of the 3 D's are given. One of the main topics throughout the session is the idea that all people can make a difference in their community and everyone is responsible for ending violence. Importantly, the fidelity of these trainings was examined. The researcher, and another student, attended all trainings and assessed fidelity. A fidelity checklist created by Green Dot was provided by the Women's Center.

Fidelity

Green Dot as a program was created to adhere to and meet certain criteria (see Appendix M for a copy of the checklist; An Excel file of fidelity checklist results is available upon



request.). Although there is room in areas for adaptation to the specific university (i.e., picking and editing scenarios and vignettes to make them specific to that university [for example talking about the student center at the participating university]), overall there is a formulated plan for each training. In order to calculate trainer compliance, the researcher and an undergraduate research assistant attended each training. A percentage of overall compliance was calculated by averaging the amount of completed components for each training, and then creating an overall grand average (85.5%). Trainer fidelity over the 2017-2018 academic year was 85.5%. Further, agreement between the researchers was measured by taking 25% of the observed variables (88) and calculating the number of agreements (76) divided by the total number of observed variables which was 86.4%. Cohen's kappa was calculated to 80.06%, which is near perfect (excel file available upon request).

Measures

Previous abuse (exploratory research question). *Adverse Childhood Experiences* (ACE; Felitti et al., 1998; see Appendix C). In order to measure adverse childhood experiences the Adverse Childhood Experiences survey was used (Felitti et al., 1998). The measure of ACEs was used in the exploratory hypothesis (1a) to examine if there was a correlation between previous trauma and bystander behavior. The scale assesses for three categories of childhood abuse; psychological abuse, physical abuse, and sexual abuse. And five types of dysfunction experienced in childhood: exposure to substance abuse, mental illness, violent treatment, parental separation, and criminal behavior. Example questions include, "Did a parent or other adult in the household often or very often push, grab, or shove you?" and, "Did an adult or person at least 5 years older ever touch or fondle you in a sexual way?" The response choices are "yes" or "no".



The ACE study was a two-wave assessment of over 8,000 people in Southern California, in collaboration with Kaiser Permanente and the CDC (Dube et al., 2001; Felitti, 2002). The goal of this four year study was to examine the effects of childhood exposure to adversity on adult health outcomes (Felitti, 2002). The ACE is often used as a frequency measure, which is how it was used in the current study (Dube et al., 2001; Felitti, 2002; Felitti et al., 1998). Individuals are defined as being exposed to a category if they respond "yes" to any of the individual questions within that category, therefore, the measurement scale is 0 (unexposed) to 8 (exposed to all categories). Scores were summed to create a composite score (0-8). Previous research indicates good to excellent test-retest reliability (Dube et al., 2003; Steele et al., 2016; Sun et al., 2016). Given that the ACE assesses only events that occurred in childhood and responses should not change from pre-test to post-test, the ACE was only administered at the pre-test. Cronbach's alpha was .83.

Measures to assess the theory of planned behavior component

Sexual norms. Sexual Social Norms Inventory - Adjusted [Male] & Sexual Social Norms Inventory - Adjusted [Female] (SSNI; Bruner, 2003; see Appendixes D & E). To determine perceived social sexual norms the SSNI was used. The survey examines the perceived attitudes of the 'average' person of the same or opposite gender on campus. This particular survey assesses students' perceptions of other students' feelings towards sexual norms and bystander behaviors. To examine perceived social norms of the 'average' student the survey prompt is, "Based on the scale below, please indicate how you think the average male/female student at ODU would respond to the following statements." Example questions include, "They believe that if a woman has been drinking, it's her fault if she gets raped," and, "If they witnessed a rape



they would call the police." The scale was adjusted from 30 questions to 24 with response items from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*).

Due to the gendered nature of the questions, and at the recommendation of the committee, the survey was adjusted so that it could be used interchangeably for both males and females. The original study examined both male and female attitudes about how the 'average man' on campus would respond. However, the current study was interested in how males view the norms of other males and females, as well as how females view the norms other males and females, on campus. Therefore, some questions were removed. For example, "They encourage their date to drink so she will let them have sex with her," and, "At parties, they look for women who are drunk and might be more willing to have sex with them" were considered sex specific and removed. Everyone, no matter their sex, was given both surveys asking about the average male and female on campus.

Composites for the scale were created and examined in analyses with appropriate items being reversed. Higher scores on this measure indicate the perception that the average student has more positive feelings toward bystander behavior and lower approval of sexual aggression/assertiveness. Meaning that the higher values on this scale indicate that the student believes the average male/female on campus is likely to intervene as a bystander and not approve of aggressive sexual behaviors. This measure has shown good internal consistency ($\alpha = .86$) and split-half reliability ($\alpha = .67$)². Additionally, indicating validity, it has been correlated with the College Date Rape Attitude and Behavior Survey (Gidycz et al., 2011). In the current study, for males on campus the Cronbach's alpha was .92 at pre-test, .95 at post-test, and .95 at follow-up.

² In the original survey males and females were given one measure and their responses were not examined separately.



For females on campus, Cronbach's alpha was .87 at pre-test, .91 at post-test, and .93 at followup.

Bystander efficacy. Bystander Efficacy Scale (BES; Banyard, Plante, & Moynihan, 2005; see Appendix F). A 9-item scale that asks participants to rate how confident they feel about performing a specific bystander behavior. The response scale is 1 (*disagree completely*) to 6 (*agree completely*); items are summed to create a composite score, with higher scores indicating greater levels of efficacy. Questions such as, "There are certain things a person can do to prevent violence" and "People can be taught to help prevent violence" seek to understand the participants' level of confidence in their ability to prevent violence. The BES has been found to be valid (Banyard, 2008) and have good internal consistency (McMahon, 2015). Banyard et al. (2008) used the BES when examining sexual and relationship abuse among 948 first-year college students and reported a Cronbach's alpha of .93. In the current study, internal consistency for the BES was $\alpha = .94$ at pre-test, .97 at post-test, and .97 at follow-up.

Bystander attitude. Bystander Attitude Scale (BAS; McMahon, 2010; see Appendix G). The BAS examines attitudes towards bystander behavior. The survey is comprised of 16 questions that assess how likely participants are to participate in a behavior. The response scale ranges from 1 (*not likely*) to 6 (*extremely likely*). Questions include, "Challenge a friend who made a sexist joke," and, "Report a friend that committed a rape." In a study examining theater (i.e., interactive plays) as a means of violence prevention (i.e., SCREAM [Students Challenging Realities and Educating Against Myths]) researchers found adequate reliability ($\alpha = .78$) for the BAS (McMahon, Postmus, Warrener, & Koenick, 2014). Cronbach's alpha for the current study was .75 for the pre-test, .83 for the post-test, and .88 for the follow-up.



Bystander behaviors (quantitative). Bystander Attitudes (McMahon, 2010; Appendix I). This scale measures actual bystander behavior; it contains 16 questions. Instructions ask if the individual has participated in the behavior in the last 30 days (for the one-week post-test participants were asked about the last 7 days). The response items are "yes", "no", "wasn't in the situation". Example items include, "report a friend who committed a rape," and, "challenge a friend who made a sexist joke." In order to create a composite variable of bystander behavior the total number of "yes" responses were summed and divided by the number of possible times an individual could perform a bystander behavior minus the total number of times that individual was not in the situation (total number of "yes" responses/ [16 – "I wasn't in the situation" responses]; McMahon et al., 2015a). The scale has demonstrated good reliability ($\alpha = .88$; McMahon et al., 2015). In the current study, $\alpha = .87$ at pre-test, .97 at post-test, and .87 at follow-up.

Demographics. The demographics survey assessed age, year in school, biological sex, gender identity, ethnicity, parental education level, sexual identity, relationship status, student status, living situation, any previous experience with bystander interventions, and if so, what particular program (see Appendix J). Additionally, at the end of the survey resources were provided. Finally, a debriefing followed the final one-month follow-up survey (see Appendix K). **Qualitative Responses to Open-ended Questions that Assessed Bystander Behaviors in Response to Vignettes**

Bystander Behavior Vignettes (Palmer et al., 2016; see Appendix H). The participants read a total of 3 vignettes. The vignettes described three types of power-based violence situations: sexual assault, dating violence, and stalking. Twelve vignettes were used. Each type of vignette depicts different personal relationships between the survivor, perpetrator, and



bystander. That is, for each type of vignette (i.e., sexual assault, dating violence, and stalking), the bystander will either know the survivor only, the perpetrator only, both, or neither. Thus, it was possible to examine if personal relationships were associated with bystander intervention. Because previous research has shown personal relationships influence one's decision to intervene (Azimi & Daigle, 2017), this design allowed the researcher to examine whether relationship to the survivor and/or perpetrator may influence one's intentions to intervene. Every participant was administered a sexual violence, dating violence, and stalking scenario for each assessment, however, the relationship between the bystander and the survivor and/or perpetrator was randomly chosen via Qualtrics' random assignment option.

The sexual assault and domestic violence vignettes were taken from Palmer et al. (2016). In accordance with the established pattern of vignettes on domestic violence and sexual assault, the researcher created a stalking vignette. Below are examples from each set of vignettes detailing the relationship pattern between bystander and survivor/perpetrator.

Sexual assault scenario:

GROUP 1: You are at a party and go upstairs to use the bathroom. A few minutes ago you noticed [your friend, Crystal] go upstairs with [a guy.] They had been flirting all night and were going to watch some TV. The walls in the apartment are thin, so you can hear them talking in the next room. You hear [Crystal] say, "Alright, Mike, let's finish this TV show." In a few more minutes, you hear [Crystal] say, "Really, stop. I need to go home." Then: "Mike, get off me. Let go of me!" You can see through a crack in the door that he is moving on top of her, and his pants are down. [Crystal] is crying.

Domestic violence scenario:

GROUP 2: You are in the student center eating lunch with a few of your friends. You notice [a girl and a guy] in an intense conversation. You can see that it looks like he is yelling at her and she looks scared or upset. Suddenly he punches the wall. Your friend says, "She looks scared, we should do something".

Stalking scenario:



GROUP 3: You are in the quad with a few of your friends when [your friend, John] starts to talk about [a girl] whom he met on a dating website for locals. He says, "We went out once, but she told me she never wanted to see me again. Too bad because I've been harassing her on social media ever since and sending graphic pictures to her phone."

After reading the vignettes, the participants completed open-ended responses. The researcher worked with another graduate student to code each open-ended response. The *a priori* coding scheme (found in Appendix H; Palmer et al., 2016) was used as a guide in conjunction with grounded theory (Bernard, Wutich, & Ryan, 2016; Birks & Mills, 2015; Schreier, 2012). The overarching themes in the data were direct, delegate, distract, and indirect. However, the researcher and coder also found different combinations and juxtaposed behaviors that were also coded. Frequencies were conducted for each type of response (i.e., direct, delegate, etc.) in each different scenario (i.e., type of violence, relationship to survivor/perpetrator, and assessment time). After extensive discussion, the coders developed a final codebook. Cohen's Kappa was calculated to determine the number of agreements minus the number of expected agreements by chance divided by the number of items and number of expected agreements by chance (Cohen, 1960; $\Sigma a - \Sigma ef/N - \Sigma ef$. Total kappa was calculated to be 493 - 77.81 = 415.19 in the numerator, and 543 - 77.81 = 465.19 in the denominator, and divided 415.19/465.19 to get a kappa of 89.25% (the 56 X 56 agreement table is available from the author by request). Cohen (1960) suggested that kappa be interpreted as follows: values ≤ 0 reflect no agreement, 0.01–0.20 as none to slight, 0.21-0.40 as fair, 0.41-0.60 as moderate, 0.61-0.80 as substantial, and 0.81-1.00 as near perfect agreement. Thus, interrater agreement in the present study was near perfect.

After coding was complete, chi-square tests were run to determine if the responses were statistically different depending on type of scenario, relationship to survivor/perpetrator, and time of assessment (detailed in the results section). There were 543 responses total, 13 (6.6%)



missing responses from the pre-test, 57 (28.8%) from the post-test, and 51 (25.8%) from the follow-up.

Direct, delegate, distract, and indirect were the main categories (taken from Palmer et al., 2016 and Green Dot training). Below is an example of distraction reported in the sexual violence scenario at post-test by a 19-year-old female:

Open the door and use the distraction method that we learned during training. This would involve me opening the door and starting a conversation with Crystal, asking if everything was okay, and that I needed her to come help me with my makeup in the bathroom, and I would wait until in the doorway until she was with me.

The following is an example of direct intervention reported in the sexual violence scenario posttest from a 25-year-old male:

I'd go in there and tell him to get off of her. I would leave until she left and went downstairs with me.

All the coded themes found in the data are below (see Tables 3-5). Underneath those main categories, there are subcategories. These subcategories represent the main category of behavior with additional information (i.e., with assistance, primary, etc.). Below is an example of direct with assistance reported for the sexual violence scenario at pre-test from a 19-year-old female:

I would grab a friend or someone else and go into the room to stop him. I usually go to parties with my boyfriend, so I would bring my boyfriend with me so he can control the guy if he gets angry and I can check up on the girl and make sure she is okay and safe. Then if she didn't have any friends at the party I'd offer to walk her home so that John wouldn't harass her again.



Additionally, many participants reported using multiple behaviors. In these cases, the behavior was subcategorized (i.e., primary, secondary, and tertiary). 'Primary' means it was the first reported method of intervention. 'Secondary' means it was the second behavior reported, and 'tertiary' indicates it was the third method reported. Below is an example of behavior coded as delegate primary (with empathy), delegate secondary. This was reported in the follow-up for the stalking scenario from a 23-year-old female:

I would first explain how it feels to be on the other side [direct with empathy primary]. If he keeps on doing that, I will let him know that I am going to have to tell someone about this [delegate secondary].

Further, participants often reported getting others involved. Getting others involved was considered 'with assistance' because the participant chose to intervene, but indicated they would ask for assistance from others, police, and so forth. More specifically, these with assistance categories were not considered a delegate behavior because the participant still reported that they would intervene themselves. Below is an example of direct with assistance reported in the dating violence scenario post-test by a 26-year-old male:

I would approach them with my friend [assistance] and separate them and ask if everything was alright. Then ask if the girl needed anything and ask the guy why he was reacting violently.

'Empathy' was also included as a theme because many people reported sharing their lived and personal experiences with the perpetrator or the survivor; therefore, they were considered to be intervening with empathy. Below is an example of empathy (coded as direct with empathy) reported in post-test for the stalking scenario from a 21-year-old female:



I would tell him to knock it off he wouldn't want someone to do that to him and that is no way to treat a woman.

An important note, this woman stated in her pre-test that she would do nothing in this scenario. However, when she responded to the post-test, she reported using intervention strategies.

Some participants reported threatening the perpetrator, usually with things like calling the police or reporting the incident to the police (i.e., 'with threat'). A 22-year-old woman reported she would do nothing in the pre-test and then in the post-test, "confront him and tell him to stop doing it before I report him". Her statement is an example of direct with threat.

Further, if the coders could not clearly understand the behavior that was being reported it was coded as unclear (i.e., 'I would help') and if the participant reported doing nothing they were coded as 'nothing'. Moreover, some participants reported a mixture of behaviors employed at in response to one scenario. These behaviors were considered combinations. These are different from the behaviors that were labeled primary, secondary and tertiary, because the participant reported employing each behavior at once as opposed to one behavior followed by the other. There were many different combinations (reported below). This is an example of a direct delegate compound reported in the follow-up for the stalking scenario: A 19-year-old female said she would, "Tell him to stop, and let him know that that's harassment. Report him"

Additionally, a combination behavior could be considered primary, secondary or tertiary if the participant reported other behaviors in conjunction. After coding was complete, chi-square tests were run to determine if the responses were statistically different depending on type of scenario, relationship to survivor/perpetrator, and time of assessment (detailed in the results section).



Table 2

Main Category									
	Direct	Delegate	Distract	Indirect					
Subcategory	Direct Primary	Delegate	Distract	Indirect					
		primary	primary	primary					
	Direct	Delegate	Distract	Indirect					
	secondary	secondary	secondary	secondary					
	Direct with	Delegate with	Distract	Indirect					
	assistance	empathy	tertiary	tertiary					
		secondary							
	Direct with	Delegate with	Direct with	Indirect with					
	assistance	threat secondary	assistance	assistance					
	primary			secondary					
	Direct with		Direct with						
	assistance		assistance						
	secondary		primary						
	Direct with								
	empathy								
	Direct with								
	empathy								
	primary								
	Direct with								
	threat								

Coding Scheme for Qualitative Data

Table 3

Combination Categories for Qualitative Data

Direct/ Delegate Direct/ Distract Direct OR Distract Delegate/ Direct with Threat Unclear/ Delegate Direct/ Indirect Distract/ Direct/ Delegate Direct / Delegate with Empathy Direct with Assistance/ Delegate Delegate/ Distract Primary



Direct/ Indirect Secondary Delegate/ Indirect Tertiary Delegate/ Distract Secondary Direct/ Indirect Secondary Direct/ Indirect Tertiary Delegate/ Indirect Direct with Assistance/ Indirect Indirect/ Delegate Direct/ Indirect/ Delegate Distract/ Indirect Delegate/ Unclear Distract/ Direct with Assistance/ Primary Direct with Assistance/ Distract

Table 4

Miscellaneous Qualitative Categories

Unclear primary Nothing Nothing primary Threat secondary



CHAPTER 3

ANALYSES

Brief Overview of the Statistical Model

This section discusses the analytic results. First, information about power and the sample of participants is presented, followed by data cleaning procedures. This information is followed by a discussion of hierarchical linear models (HLM), qualitative responses, exploratory analyses, and limitations. Given the longitudinal nature of the data, each participant had multiple data points. See Table 5 for the specific analyses used to examine each hypothesis. Additionally, biological sex is included in HLM analyses as a control.



Table 5

Overview of Analyses for Each Hypothesis

Hypothesis	Variable	Analyses used							
Hypothesis #1: Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander behavior for the experimental group compared to the comparison group.									
1 1 0 1	Bystander behavior	HLM							
Hypothesis # 2: Green Dot would significantly increase bystander efficacy and attitudes and would significantly decrease perceived normative approval of power-based violence for the experimental group compared to the									
companison group.	Bystander efficacy	HLM							
	Bystander attitudes	HLM							
	Social sexual norms	HLM							
Exploratory Hypothesis #1: ACEs wor	uld significantly predict bystander be	havior.							
	ACE	Linear regression							
Exploratory Hypothesis #2: Knowing bystander behavior.	someone who has experienced sexual	l trauma would significantly increase							
	Knowing someone	Linear regression							
Qualitative data									
	Potential changes in 3 D's over time	Qualitative analysis & Chi-square							

In cases where data are longitudinal (i.e., time points nested within individuals), the effect of the predictor variables on the outcome may depend on nesting; therefore, it is important that nesting be accounted for in the model. For this reason, HLM 7 (Raudenbush, Bryk, Cheong, Congdon, & Du Toit, 2011) was used to analyze the data. Each outcome variable (i.e., bystander behavior, efficacy, attitudes, and social sexual norms) was examined with time as a level 1 predictor and group membership and sex as level 2 predictors (these variables do not change over time). This resulted in four sets of models. Group membership was coded as 1 for the experimental group and 0 for the comparison group. Sex was coded as 1 for females and 0 for



males. Time was dummy coded to allow for a non-linear trend (McCoach & Kaniskan, 2010; Table 6).

Table 6

Dummy Coding

Treatment	Pre-test	Post-test	Follow-up
Time 1	0	1	0
Time 2	0	0	1

Data Cleaning

Prior to data analysis all potentially identifying information was removed and participants were given ID numbers. Outliers were assessed with boxplots and, if more than 3 interquartile ranges from the median, Winsorized (changed to be the next highest score). When creating the bystander behavior scores, total number of "yes" responses were summed. These were examined for outliers before creating composites. On this scale for the pre-test there were 3 outliers scores 15, 14, and 14 changed to 14, 13, and 13, respectively. On the same measure for the post-test there were 8 outliers, six that were 16 and one at 15, Winsorized to 8 and 7, respectively. Next data were checked for skewness and kurtosis (no variables used were skewed or kurtotic; see Table 7).



Table 7

Descriptive Information about Variables

Variable	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis
ACE	76	0	7.00	1.38	1.73	1.73	1.43
Bystander	72	0	1.00	0.73	0.24	-0.76	0.10
behavior pre-test							
Bystander	38	0	1.00	0.60	0.34	-0.50	-0.74
behavior post-test							
Bystander	55	0	1.00	0.73	0.24	-0.76	0.11
behavior follow-							
up							
Efficacy pre-test	78	20	54	46.32	6.74	-1.19	0.26
Efficacy post-test	52	27	54	47.15	6.42	-0.79	0.11
Efficacy follow-	55	27	54	46.05	7.44	-0.77	-0.05
up							
Attitudes pre-test	77	39	80	67.14	8.01	-1.07	1.41
Attitudes post-test	52	48	80	67.88	8.49	-0.60	-0.51
Attitudes follow-	54	44	80	67.70	9.51	-0.97	0.11
up							
SSNI male pre-	73	51	164	97.01	22.23	0.55	0.74
test							
SSNI male post-	52	36	161	97.10	29.06	0.36	-0.09
test							
SSNI male	53	40	168	101.15	27.00	0.30	0.31
follow-up							
SSNI female pre-	74	18	164	115.38	40.80	-1.22	0.26
test							
SSNI female post-	52	73	163	131.02	21.79	-0.71	0.11
test							
SSNI female	54	80	168	131.59	21.93	-0.52	-0.66
follow-up							

Linearity was assessed via scatterplots with Loess lines. None of the data were U or \cap shaped, indicating the variables were linear. The HLM program was used with restricted maximum likelihood to examine the following models: the unconditional model, and the slopes and intercepts as outcomes model (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002). In the slopes and intercepts as outcomes model, the predictors (in this case, group membership and sex) are examined to



determine if they significantly predict the intercept, significantly predict the within-person slope, and/or how much variation in the intercept and slope is explained by the predictors (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002).

Chi-square tests were conducted to examine potential differences between the experimental and comparison groups on demographic variables at baseline (see Table 8). However, because age is continuous it was examined via a *t*-test; t (76) = 1.077, p = .332. The only variable significantly different at baseline between the experimental and comparison group was sex (as the comparison group was all women, p = .045). Therefore, sex was included as a control variable in the HLM models.

Table 8

Variable	df	р	χ^2
Sex	1	.045*	4.026
Year in school	4	.875	1.221
Romantic	4	.7296	4.913
relationship status			
Student status	1	.380	0.769
Race	8	.094	13.546

Chi-Square test for Differences between Experimental and Comparison Group at Baseline on Demographic Variables

Note. * Significant at p < .05. Sex was coded as 0 = Male, 1 = Female; Year in school was coded 1 = Freshman, 2 = Sophomore, 3 = Junior, 4 = Senior, 5 = Post-bachelors; Romantic relationship status was coded 1 = never dated, 2 = not currently dating, 3 = I go out on dates, but I'm not dating, sexual or romantic, 4 = I am in a dating, sexual or romantic relationship, but not living together, 5 = I am currently married or living with my partner; Student status was coded 1 = full-time, 2 = part-time, 3 = other; Race was coded 1 = American Indian or Alaskan Native, <math>2 = 1



Asian, 3 = Black or African American, 4 = Hispanic or Latino/a, 5 = Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, 6 = White, 7 = Other.

Bivariate Correlations

Bivariate correlations were conducted to examine the relationships between the variables (see Table 9). For the experimental group, at pre-test, bystander efficacy was significantly positively related to bystander attitudes, and perceived social sexual norms for the average female on campus. That is, higher bystander efficacy was significantly related to higher bystander attitudes, and lower perception of female sexual norms (i.e., perceiving females to be less sexually assertive). Bystander attitudes was significantly positively related to social sexual norms for the average female on campus, such that positive bystander attitudes were significantly associated with a more positive perception of the sexual norms for women on campus.

At the one-week post-test bystander efficacy was significantly positively correlated with bystander attitude, and perceived social sexual norms for females. Again, higher bystander efficacy was significantly related to higher bystander attitudes, and a more positive perception of the sexual norms for women on campus at the post-test. Similar to results from the pre-test data, bystander attitude was positively correlated with social sexual female norms. Additionally, perceived male and female social sexual norms were positively correlated at post-test, meaning as the perception of sexually aggressive behavior for the average males decreased so did the perception for the average female on campus. Finally, similar to the pre-test and post-test, at the one-month follow-up there was a significant positive correlation between bystander efficacy and bystander attitudes, as well as social sexual norms for females. Bystander behaviors were not correlated with any variables in the experimental group.



For the comparison group, in the post-test, bystander behavior was significantly positively related to bystander attitudes. Meaning that as positive bystander attitudes increased so did reports of bystander behavior. However, bystander efficacy was negatively related to social sexual norms for the average male on campus at post-test for the comparison group. This correlation indicates that as bystander efficacy increased perceived positive social sexual norms for the average male on campus decreased. It is important to note that the comparison group was comprised only of women.



Table 9

Bivariate Correlations

[· · ·]		-	-	L .	-		-	-								
Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
1 Destandan		21	47	20	02	00	24	25	50	22	10	50	20	20	20	
1. Bystander	-	31	47	29	02	08	24	25	52	.23	46	59	29	.20	39	n/a
benavior pre-																
test	2 O · I:		1	0.5.1	0.0.1.1		40	0.0.1	0.0.1	60					0.0.1	,
2. Bystander	.38*	-	.61	.85*	.92**	.57	.48	.88*	.89*	68	63	23	.65	.36	.93*	n/a
behavior																
post-test																
3. Bystander	.05	.08	-	.28	.77	49	.50	.17	.84	02	65	15	.60	.88	.38	n/a
behavior																
follow-up																
4. Bystander	06	.04	.02	-	.76	.71	.17	.81	11	11	62	27	.37	.49	.91*	n/a
efficacy pre-																
test																
5. Bystander	10	.17	.05	.68**	-	.37	.41	.69	.91*	42	83*	52	.62	.53	.90*	n/a
efficacy post-																
test																
6. Bystander	08	03	.18	.68**	.78**	-	08	.87	20	38	30	25	.43	14	.47	n/a
efficacy																
follow-up																
7. Bystander	.05	.06	.07	.54**	.48**	.52**	-	.58	.87*	33	23	.38	47	34	26	n/a
attitude pre-																
test																
8. Bystander	25	10	.03	.49**	.59**	.55**	.70**	-	.60	66	50	.05	.53	.13	.72	n/a
attitude post-																
test																
9. Bystander	20	30	.24	.47**	.56**	.74**	.57**	.86**	-	27	52	.15	.05	.50	.08	n/a
attitude																
follow-up																
10. SSNI	17	18	24	.09	.12	.13	.04	.16	.16	1 -	06	08	.04	.13	62	n/a
male pre-test																
pro cost											1					



11. SSNI male post-test	05	11	27	.27	.17	.24	.09	.28	.24	.87**	-	.74	54	71	52	n/a
male post test																
12. SSNI	08	02	25	.25	.20	.22	.04	.25	.25	.82**	.92**	-	36	88*	30	n/a
linale follow-																
13. SSNI	.01	24	.02	.55**	.55*	.43**	.44**	.39*	.35*	.24	.25	.20	-	.70	.86*	n/a
female pre-																
test																
14. SSNI	08	.08	17	.62**	.58**	.64**	.54**	.58**	.52**	.26	.43**	.46**	.64**	-	.47	n/a
female post-																
test																
15. SSNI	13	10	.00	.62**	.66**	.73**	.40**	.51**	.60**	.41**	.55**	.55**	.61**	.82**	-	n/a
female																
follow-up																
16. Sex	.00	.02	.16	.12	.13	.05	.24	.37*	.18	48**	38*	35*	.04	.08	.05	-
(experimental																
only)																

Note. SSNI = Social Sexual Norms Inventory. Spearman's rho reported for sex. The experimental group is below, and the comparison group is above the diagonal. The comparison group was completely female, therefore, there are no correlations for sex differences. * p < .05, ** p < .01.



Model

As mentioned above, every variable of interest (bystander behavior, efficacy, attitudes, and social sexual norms for males and females) was analyzed via each of the following models (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002; Raudenbush et al., 2011). Due to the nature of the predictor variables time, gender, and group status (all three dummy coded) were left uncentered as they have a meaningful zero (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002). Additionally, deviance tests (χ^2) were examined in order to determine if the parameter estimates within the models should be fixed or random (Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002). Meaning each outcome variable was run twice (once as a random effects model and once as a fixed effects model), the significance of the deviance test scores were examined, and the model that fit the data better was used.

Unconditional model. In the unconditional model there are no predictors of the outcome variable, as the goal is to create a null model from which to compare other models. The unconditional model calculates how much variance was accounted for in the other models (i.e., to see if the other models explain more variance). And to create the interclass correlation (ICC; participant variability divided by total variability) which indicates the variance in the outcome due to individual differences.

Level 1 $Y_{ti} = \pi_{0i} + e_{ti}$ Level 2 $\pi_{0i} = \beta_{00} + r_{0i}$ $Y_{ti} = the observed status at time t for individual i$ $e_{ti} = level 1 error$ (1)

 π_{0i} = the intercept (the true score of person i at the intercept)



$$\beta_{00} = person \ level \ mean \ intercept$$

$$r_{0i} = random \ effect$$

$$\tau_{00} = level \ 2 \ variance \ (r_{0i})$$

$$\sigma^{2} = level \ 1 \ variance \ (e_{ti})$$

$$ICC = \frac{\tau_{00}}{(\tau_{00} + \sigma^{2})}$$
(2)

Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. The slopes and intercepts as outcomes model examines time, group membership, and sex with main effects and interactions (group*time1, sex*time1, group*time2, sex*time2).

Level 1 (3)

$$Y_{ti} = \pi_{0i} + \pi_{1i}(time1_{ti}) + \pi_{2i}(time2_{ti}) + e_{ti}$$
Level 2

$$\pi_{0i} = \beta_{00} + \beta_{01}(group_i) + \beta_{02}(sex_i) + r_{0i}$$

$$\pi_{1i} = \beta_{10} + \beta_{11}(group_i) + \beta_{12}(sex_i) + r_{1i}$$

$$\pi_{2i} = \beta_{20} + \beta_{21}(group_i) + \beta_{22}(sex_i) + r_{2i}$$

$$\pi_{0i} = the intercept (intial status)$$

$$\pi_{1i}(time1_{ti}) = the slope for time 1 (person i)$$

$$\pi_{2i}(time2_{ti}) = the slope for time 2 (person i)$$

$$e_{ti} = level 1 error$$

$$\beta_{00} = mean intercept (mean initial status)$$

 $\beta_{10} = the growth rate (time 1)$



 $\beta_{20} = the growth rate (time 2)$

$$r_{0i} = random \, effect$$

 $*r_{1i}$

= random effect level 1(only included if model is run as random instead of fixed)

 $*r_{2i}$

= random effect level 2 (only included if model is run as random instead of fixed)



HLM Model Results

Bystander behavior. Hypothesis #1: Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander behavior for the experimental group compared to the control group (see the results of the unconditional model in Table 10).

Unconditional model.

Table 10

The Unconditional Model for Bystander Behavior

Fixed Effect	Coefficient	SE	t	
β_{00}	0.70	0.04	15.63	
Random Effect	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р
r_{0i}	0.03	24	48.53	.002
e_{ti}	0.08			

$$ICC = \frac{0.026}{(0.026 + 0.077)} = .252 \tag{4}$$

The ICC is .252. This means that 25.2% of the variance in bystander behavior is due to the differences among participants and 74.8% due to change over time.

Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. Bystander behavior was examined to determine if there were effects of time, group membership, or sex. Additionally, two interactions were examined to determine if there were effects for group membership over time, or for sex over



time. First, deviance scores were examined to determine if the slopes for the effect of time should be random or fixed (see Table 11). Results of the deviance test indicate that randomizing the slopes does not significantly contribute to the explanation of variance for the outcome variable (bystander behavior), therefore, the fixed effects model was used. Second, results (see Table 12) indicate that there were no significant changes over time in bystander behavior, $\pi_{1i} =$ 0.21 (time 1), and π_{2i} = -0.12 (time 2). Additionally, there were no significant differences between groups (experimental or comparison), β_{01} = -0.11, or between men and women (sex), β_{02} = 0.10. Finally, there was no interaction between group membership and time, β_{11} = -0.08 (time 1), and β_{21} = 0.02 (time 2), or between sex and time, β_{12} = -0.14 (time 1), and β_{22} = 0.07 (time 2; see Figure 9 for means).

Table 11

Results of	f Deviance	Test for	B vstander	Behavior
			~	

Model		Number of Parameters	Deviance
1. Fixed		2	54.31
2. Random		4	52.69
	χ^2	df	р
Fixed versus random	1.63	2	.444



Table 12

The Fixed Effect Model for Bystander Behavior

	Coefficient	SE	t	df	р			
Mean bystander behavior								
Intercept, π_{0i}	0.71	0.26	2.67	22	.014			
Group, β_{01}	-0.11	0.18	-0.61	22	.548			
Sex, β_{02}	0.10	0.21	0.49	22	.626			
Group & sex d	Group & sex differentiation time 1							
Intercept, π_{1i}	0.21	0.33	0.65	66	.520			
Group, β_{11}	-0.08	0.23	-0.34	66	.734			
Sex, β_{12}	-0.14	0.26	-0.54	66	.594			
Group & sex differentiation time 2								
Intercept, π_{2i}	-0.12	0.33	-0.36	66	.721			
Group, β_{21}	0.02	0.23	0.10	66	.922			
Sex, β_{22}	0.07	0.26	0.26	66	.800			
Random Effect	Standard Deviation	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р			
r _{0i}	0.16	0.03	22	41.21	.008			
e_{ti}	0.29	0.09						





Figure 9. Bystander behavior mean scores over time

Bystander efficacy. Hypothesis # 2a: Green Dot would significantly increase bystander efficacy for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Table 13 for results of the unconditional model).


Unconditional model.

Table 13

The Unconditional Model for Bystander Efficacy

Fixed Effect	Coefficient	SE	t	
β_{00}	47.81	0.88	55.43	
Random Effect	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р
r _{0i}	15.79	24	129.68	.001
e_{ti}	10.76			

$$ICC = \frac{15.794}{(15.794 + 10.760)} = .595$$
(5)

The ICC is .595. This means that 59.5% of the variance in bystander efficacy is due to the differences among participants and 40.5% due to change over time.

Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. Bystander efficacy was examined to determine if there were effects of time, group membership, or sex. Additionally, two interactions were examined to determine if there were effects of group membership over time, or sex over time. First, deviance scores were examined to determine if the results should be random or fixed (see



Table 14). Results of the deviance test indicate that randomizing the slopes does not significantly contribute to the explanation of variance for the outcome variable (bystander efficacy), therefore, the fixed effects model was used. Second, results (see Table 15) indicate that there were no significant changes over time in bystander efficacy, $\pi_{1i} = -3.42$ (time 1), and $\pi_{2i} = -1.03$ (time 2), or between men and women (sex), $\beta_{02} = -1.94$. However, there was a significant difference between groups (experimental and comparison), $\beta_{01} = -5.94$, such that the comparison group had significantly higher bystander efficacy when compared to the experimental group. Finally, there was no interaction between group membership and time, $\beta_{11} = 3.75$ (time 1), and $\beta_{21} = 1.03$ (time 2), or between sex and time, $\beta_{12} = 1.67$ (time 1), and $\beta_{22} = 0.78$ (time 2; see Figure 10 for means).

Results of Deviance Test for Bystander Efficacy

Model		Number of Parameters	Deviance
1. Fixed		2	397.97
2. Random		4	395.81
	χ^2	df	р
Fixed versus random	2.16	2	.339



The Fixed Effect Model for Bystander Efficacy

	Coefficient	SE	t	df	р	
Mean bystande	er behavior					
Intercept, π_{0i}	53.94	4.06	13.29	22	.001	
Group, β_{01}	-5.94	2.81	-2.12	22	.046	
Sex, β_{02}	-1.94	3.17	-0.61	22	.545	
Group & sex d	ifferentiation ti	me 1				
Intercept, π_{1i}	-3.42	3.79	-0.90	66	.371	
Group, β_{11}	3.75	2.62	1.43	66	.157	
Sex, β_{12}	1.67	2.96	0.56	66	.574	
Group & sex d	ifferentiation ti	me 2				
Intercept, π_{2i}	-1.03	3.79	-0.27	66	.787	
Group, β_{21}	1.03	2.62	0.39	66	.696	
Sex, β_{22}	0.78	2.96	0.26	66	.793	
Random Effect	Standard Deviation	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р	
r _{0i}	3.19	14.57	22	107.64	.001	





Figure 10. Bystander efficacy mean scores over time

Bystander attitudes. Hypothesis # 2b: Green Dot would significantly increase bystander attitudes for the experimental group compared to the comparison group (see Table 16 for results of the unconditional model).



Unconditional model.

Table 16

|--|

Fixed Effect	Coefficient	SE	t	
β_{00}	68.76	1.33	51.84	
Random Effect	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р
r _{0i}	41.23	24	239.94	.001
e_{ti}	13.75			

$$ICC = \frac{41.228}{(41.228 + 13.747)} = .750$$
(6)

The ICC is .750. This means that 75.0% of the variance in bystander attitude is due to the differences among participants and 25.0% due to change over time.



Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. Bystander attitudes were examined to determine if there were effects of time, group membership, or sex. Additionally, two interactions were examined to determine if there were effects of group membership over time, or sex over time. First, deviance scores were examined to determine if the results should be random or fixed (see Table 17). Results of the deviance test indicate that randomizing the slopes does not significantly contribute to the explanation of variance for the outcome variable (bystander attitude), therefore, the fixed effects model was used. Second, results (see Table 18) indicate that there were no significant changes over time in bystander attitude, $\pi_{1i} = -1.97$ (time 1), and $\pi_{2i} = -3.03$ (time 2). Additionally, there were no significant differences between groups (experimental or comparison), $\beta_{01} = -5.53$, or between men and women (sex), $\beta_{02} = 4.39$. Finally, there was no interaction between group membership and time, $\beta_{11} = 0.31$ (time 1), and $\beta_{21} = 1.36$ (time 2), or between sex and time, $\beta_{12} = 1.72$ (time 1), and $\beta_{22} = 1.28$ (time 2; see Figure 11 for means).

Resul	ts e	of	De	viance	1	est	for	B	ystand	er 1	Attitude	е
		•/				•	,	~				

Model		Number of Parameters	Deviance	
1. Fixed		2	429.56	
2. Random		4	424.66	
	χ^2	df	р	
Fixed versus random	4.94	2	.084	



The Fixed Effect Model for Bystander Attitude

	Coefficient	SE	t	df	р	
Mean bystande	er behavior					
Intercept, π_{0i}	69.86	5.75	12.15	22	.001	
Group, β_{01}	-5.53	3.98	-1.39	22	.178	
Sex, β_{02}	4.39	4.49	0.98	22	.339	
Group & sex d	ifferentiation tim	e 1				
Intercept, π_{1i}	-1.97	4.42	-0.45	66	.656	
Group, β_{11}	0.31	3.06	0.10	66	.921	
Sex, β_{12}	1.72	3.45	0.50	66	.619	
Group & sex differentiation time 2						
Intercept, π_{2i}	-3.03	4.42	-0.69	66	.495	
Group, β_{21}	1.36	3.06	0.45	66	.657	



Sex, β_{22}	1.28	3.45	0.37	66	.712	
Random Effect	Standard Deviation	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р	
r _{0i}	6.04	36.45	22	179.39	.001	
e_{ti}	3.91	15.29				



Figure 11. Bystander attitude mean scores over time



Social Sexual Norms – Male. Hypothesis 2c: Green Dot would significantly decrease perceived normative approval of power-based violence for males and females on campus for the experimental condition compared to the comparison group (see Table 19 for results of the unconditional model).

Unconditional model.

The Unconditional	Model for	Social Sexual	Norms (Aver	rage Male on	Campus)
-------------------	-----------	---------------	-------------	--------------	---------

Fixed Effect	Coefficient	SE	t	
β_{00}	132.08	3.19	41.37	
Random Effect	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р
r _{0i}	223.65	24	152.40	.001
e_{ti}	125.41			



$$ICC = \frac{223.652}{(223.652 + 125.413)} = .641 \tag{7}$$

The ICC is .641. This means that 64.1% of the variance in the perception of social sexual norms for the average male on campus is due to the differences among participants and 35.9% due to change over time.

Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. The perception of social sexual norms for the average male on campus was examined to determine if there were effects of time, group membership, or sex. Additionally, two interactions were examined to determine if there were effects of group membership over time, or sex over time. First, deviance scores were examined to determine if the results should be random or fixed (see Table 20). Results of the deviance test indicate that randomizing the slopes does not significantly contribute to the explanation of variance for the outcome variable (social sexual norms for males on campus), therefore, the fixed effects model was used. Second, results (see Table 21) indicate that there were no significant changes over time in the perception of social sexual norms for the average male on campus, $\pi_{1i} = -12.77$ (time 1), and π_{2i} = 3.96 (time 2). Additionally, there were no significant differences between groups (experimental or comparison), $\beta_{01} = -7.43$, but there was a significant difference between men and women (sex), $\beta_{02} = -39.67$, such that at pre-test, for the experimental group, men report a significantly higher score when rating the perceived social sexual behavior of the average male on campus. This effect indicates that men in the sample believe the average male on campus to be less sexually aggressive and more likely to intervene as a bystander, compared to the perceptions women in the sample have. Finally, there was no effect between group membership and time, β_{11} = 12.77 (time 1), and β_{21} = -4.96 (time 2), or between sex and time, β_{12} =-2.33 (time 1), and β_{22} = 5.94 (time 2; see Figure 12 for means).



Results of Deviance Test for Social Sexual Norms (Average Male on Campus)

Model		Number of Parameters	Deviance
1. Fixed		2	567.03
2. Random		4	566.54
	χ^2	df	р
Fixed versus random	0.49	2	.78

The Fixed Effect Model for Social Sexual Norms for the Average Male on Campus

	Coefficient	SE	t	df	р					
Mean bystander behavior										
Intercept, π_{0i}	133.77	16.08	8.31	22	.001					
Group, β_{01}	-7.43	11.12	-0.67	22	.511					
Sex, β_{02}	-39.67	12.55	-3.16	22	.005					
Group & sex d	ifferentiation tin	ne 1								
Intercept, π_{1i}	-12.77	12.64	-1.01	66	.316					
Group, β_{11}	15.77	8.74	1.80	66	.075					



Sex, β_{12}	-2.33	9.86	-0.24	66	.814						
Group & sex differentiation time 2											
Intercept, π_{2i}	3.96	12.64	0.31	66	.755						
Group, β_{21}	-4.96	8.74	-0.57	66	.572						
Sex, β_{22}	5.94	9.86	0.60	66	.548						
Random Effect	Standard Deviation	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р						
r_{0i}	16.73	280.01	22	169.93	.001						
e_{ti}	11.18	124.93									





Figure 12. Social sexual norms mean scores over time for average male on campus

Social Sexual Norms – Female. Hypothesis 2c: Green Dot would significantly decrease perceived normative approval of power-based violence for males and females on campus for the experimental condition compared to the comparison group (see Table 22 for results of the unconditional model).



The Unconditional Model for Social Sexual Norms (Average Female on Campus)

Fixed Effect	Coefficient	SE	t	
β_{00}	93.77	4.17	22.46	
Random Effect	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р
r _{0i}	406.75	24	231.71	.001
e _{ti}	141.00			

$$ICC = \frac{406.751}{(406.751 + 140.996)} = .743$$
(8)

The ICC is .743. This means that 74.3% of the variance in the perception of social sexual norms for the average female on campus is due to the differences among participants and 25.7% due to change over time.

Slopes and intercepts as outcomes. The perception of social sexual norms for the average female on campus was examined to determine if there were effects for time, group membership, or for sex. Additionally, two interactions were examined to determine if there were effects for group membership over time, and sex over time. First, deviance scores were examined to determine if the results should be random or fixed (see Table 23). Results of the deviance test indicate that randomizing the slopes does not significantly contribute to the explanation of



variance for the outcome variable (social sexual norms for average female on campus), therefore, the fixed effects model was used. Second, results (see Table 24) indicate that there were no significant changes over time in the perception of social sexual norms for the average female on campus, $\pi_{1i} = 0.75$ (time 1), and $\pi_{2i} = 4.47$ (time 2). Additionally, there were no significant differences between groups (experimental or comparison), $\beta_{01} = 3.86$, or between men and women (sex), $\beta_{02} = -12.89$. Finally, there was no interaction between group membership and time, $\beta_{11} = -2.42$ (time 1), and $\beta_{21} = -12.14$ (time 2), or between sex and time, $\beta_{12} = -2.00$ (time 1), and $\beta_{22} = 3.28$ (time 2; see Figure 13 for means).

Results of Deviance Test for Social Sexual Norms (Average Female on Campus)

Model		Number of Parameters	Deviance
1. Fixed		2	565.53
2. Random		4	561.89
	χ^2	df	р
Fixed versus random	3.64	2	.162



The Fixed Effect Model for Social Sexual Norms for the Average Female on Campus

	Coefficient	SE	t	df	р						
Mean bystande	er behavior										
Intercept, π_{0i}	142.14	15.14	9.39	22	.001						
Group, β_{01}	3.86	10.47	0.37	22	.716						
Sex, β_{02}	-12.89	11.82	-1.09	22	.288						
Group & sex d	Group & sex differentiation time 1										
Intercept, π_{1i}	0.75	12.96	0.06	66	.954						
Group, β_{11}	-2.42	8.96	-0.27	66	.788						
Sex, β_{12}	-2.00	10.11	-0.20	66	.844						
Group & sex d	ifferentiation ti	me 2									
Intercept, π_{2i}	4.47	12.96	0.35	66	.731						
Group, β_{21}	-12.14	8.96	-1.35	66	.180						
Sex, β_{22}	3.28	10.11	0.32	66	.747						
Random Effect	Standard Deviation	Variance Component	df	χ^2	р						
r _{oi}	15.08	227.51	22	136.23	.001						
e_{ti}	11.47	131.46									





Figure 13. Social sexual norms mean scores over time for average female on campus

Descriptive information on the qualitative responses (3 D's)

As noted in the method, each participant was given three vignettes at each assessment that asked how they would respond to a specific power-based violence scenario (i.e., dating violence, sexual violence, and stalking). The responses were coded by the researcher and another



graduate student using grounded theory (Birks & Mills, 2015). In order to better understand the nature of the qualitative responses, frequencies were conducted (see Tables 25 - 27). Response frequencies are presented across the type of relationship the participant had with the survivor and/or perpetrator, by gender, by assessment time, and by type of scenario (i.e., dating violence, sexual violence, stalking). Furthermore, chi-squares were run on each variation of the qualitative categories, however, only one was significant and it is reported below (results of the other chi-square analyses available upon request). The most reported response to every scenario was direct intervention or a variant of direct intervention (i.e., direct intervention with assistance). The second most frequent were delegating responses, followed by distracting. A mix of responses that involved distract and delegate was the most frequently reported combination of more than one type of response to the three types of sexual behaviors. Additionally, it should be mentioned that overall there were very few people who reported doing nothing (0.5%). Below are the qualitative categories and the frequency of responses for each.



Type of Responses	Pre	-test	Post	t-test	Follow-up		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	
Direct							
Direct	29 (69.0)	51 (35.9)	24 (66.7)	39 (37.1)	20 (60.6)	33 (28.4)	
Direct Primary		10 (7.0)		9 (8.6)	2 (6.1)	7 (6.0)	
Direct with Assistance	3 (7.1)	4 (2.8)	3 (8.3)	4 (3.8)	5 (15.2)	4 (3.4)	
Direct with Assistance primary		3 (2.1)				3 (2.6)	
Direct with Empathy		2 (1.4)	1 (2.8)	4 (3.8)		5 (4.3)	
Direct with Empathy Primary		2 (1.4)				1 (0.9)	
Direct with Threat		1 (0.7)		1 (1.0)			
Direct with Assistance Primary		1 (0.7)					
Direct with Assistance Secondary							
Direct with Threat	1 (2.4)			2 (1.9)		1 (0.9)	
Delegate							
Delegate	1 (2.4)	7 (4.9)	2 (5.6)	11 (10.5)	1 (3.0)	9 (7.8)	
Delegate Primary	1 (2.4)	2 (1.4)				1 (0.9)	
Delegate Secondary							
Delegate with Threat Secondary							
Delegate with Empathy Secondary							
		Table 25	Continued				

Frequency and Percentage of Qualitative Responses Across all Three Assessment Points



Type of Responses	Pre	-test	Post	t-test	Follo	ow-up
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female
	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %
Distract						
Distract		9 (6.3)				
Distract Primary		5 (3.5)				
Distract Secondary						
Distract Tertiary						
Distract with Assistance				1 (1.0)		2 (1.7)
Indirect						
Indirect	2 (4.8)	4 (2.8)		2 (1.9)		1 (0.9)
Indirect Primary		1 (0.7)	1 (2.8)	2 (1.9)		
Indirect Secondary						
Indirect Tertiary						
Indirect with Assistance Secondary						
Miscellaneous						
Nothing	1 (2.4)	3 (2.1)	1 (2.8)		1 (3.0)	1 (0.9)
Unclear	1 (2.4)	16 (11.3)	1 (2.8)	4 (3.8)	1 (3.0)	7 (6.0)
Nothing Primary		1 (0.7)				
Threat Secondary						
Unclear Primary			1 (2.8)			
Combination						
Direct/Delegate Combination	2 (4.8)	8 (5.6)	1 (2.8)	5 (4.8)	1 (3.0)	9 (7.8)
Direct/Distract Combination		4 (2.8)	1 (2.8)	2 (0.7)		1 (0.9)

Table 25 continued



Type of Responses		P	re-test				Post-test					Follow-up				
	Μ	ale]	Fer	nale		Μ	ale		Fer	nale	Ν	Iale		Fem	ale
	#	%		#	%		#	%		#	%		# %		#	%
Delegate/Direct with Threat Combination															1 (0	.9)
Unclear/Delegate Combination				3 (2	2.1)											
Direct/Indirect Combination										1 (1.0)				7 (6	5.)
Distract/Direct/Delegate Combination															1 (0	.9)
Direct/Delegate with Empathy Combination				1 (0.7)											
Direct with Assistance/Delegate Combination															1 (0	.9)
Delegate/Distract Primary Combination										1 (1.0)					
Direct/Indirect Secondary Combination																
Delegate/Indirect Tertiary Combination																
Delegate/Distract Secondary Combination																
Direct/Indirect Tertiary Combination																
Delegate/Indirect Combination				1 ((0.7)					1 (1.0)					
				T	able 2:	5 co	ontinu	ıed								



Type of Responses	Pre	-test	Post	t-test	Follow-up		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
Direct with Assistance/Indirect Combination	# 70	1 (0.7)	# 70	# 70	# 70	# 70	
Indirect/Distract/Delegate Combination						1 (0.9)	
Delegate/Direct with Assistance Combination	1 (2.4)			1 (1.0)		1 (0.9)	
Distract/Delegate Combination				1 (1.0)		1 (0.9)	
Indirect/Delegate Combination		1 (0.7)				1 (0.9)	
Direct/Indirect/Delegate Combination						1 (0.9)	
Distract/Indirect Combination						1 (0.9)	
Delegate/Unclear Combination		1 (0.7)		1 (1.0)		1 (0.9)	
Distract/Direct with Assistance Primary Combination					1 (3.0)		
Direct with Assistance/Distract Combination					1 (3.0)		



Response Type	Perpetrat	or known	Survivo	r known	Both l	cnown	Neither known	
	М	F	М	F	М	F	М	F
	# %	# %	#%	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %
Direct								
Direct	23 (74.2)	36 (40.0)	12 (57.1)	31 (33.3)	14 (77.8)	34 (37.4)	24 (58.5)	22 (25.0)
Direct Primary		7 (7.8)		3 (3.2)	1 (5.6)	5 (5.5)	1 (2.4)	11 (12.5)
Direct with Assistance	1 (3.2)	3 (3.3)	1 (4.8)	2 (2.2)	2 (11.1)	5 (5.5)	4 (9.8	2 (2.3)
Direct with Assistance primary		1 (1.1)		2 (2.3)		1 (1.1)		3 (3.4)
Direct with Assistance Secondary								
Direct with Empathy	1 (3.2)	2 (2.2)		2 (2.2)		5 (5.5)		2 (2.3)
Direct with Empathy Primary		1 (1.1)				1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)
Direct with Threat		2 (2.2)		1 (1.1)		2 (2.3)	1 (2.4)	
Delegate								
Delegate	1 (3.2)	6 (6.7)	1 (4.8)	7 (7.5)		5 (5.5)	2 (4.9)	8 (9.1)
Delegate Primary		1 (1.1)					1 (2.4)	2 (2.3)
			Table 2	6 continued				

F 1	D		D (10 1
Frequency and	Percentage of	Qualitative	Rosnonsos t	or Relationshir	with Pori	netrator and Survivor
I requercy and	I creeniage of	Quantanve	Responses j	οι παιαποποπη	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	



Response Type	Perpetrat	or known	Survivo	or known	Both	known	Neither known	
	М	F	М	F	М	F	М	F
	# %	# %	#%	# %	#%	# %	# %	#%
Delegate Secondary								
Delegate with Threat Secondary								
Delegate with Empathy Secondary								
Distract								
Distract		6 (6.7)		11 (11.8)		8 (8.8)		8 (9.1)
Distract Primary		1 (1.1)		2 (2.2)		1 (1.1)		3 (3.4)
Distract Secondary								
Distract Tertiary								2 (2.3)
Distract with Assistance						2 (2.2)		1 (1.1)
Indirect								
Indirect		1 (1.1)	2 (9.5)	4 (4.3)		1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)
Indirect Primary	1 (3.2)			1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)
Indirect Secondary								
Indirect Tertiary								
			Table 2	26 continued				
Response Type	Perpetrat	or known	Survivo	or known	Both	known	Neither known	



	M # %	F # %	M #%	F # %	M #%	F # %	M # %	F #%
Indirect with Assistance Secondary								
Miscellaneous								
Nothing	1 (3.2)		1 (4.8)	1 (1.1)			1 (2.4)	3 (3.4)
Unclear	1 (3.2)	5 (5.6)		8 (8.6)		9 (9.9)	2 (4.9)	4 (4.5)
Nothing Primary								1 (1.1)
Threat Secondary								
Unclear Primary							1 (2.4)	
Combinations								
Direct/Delegate Combination		3 (3.3)	2 (9.5)	10 (10.8)		4 (4.4)	2 (4.9)	5 (5.7)
Direct/Distract Combination		3 (3.3)	1 (4.8)			2 (2.2)		2 (2.3)
Direct OR Distract								1 (1.1)
Delegate/Direct with Threat Combination		1 (1.1)						
Response Type	Pernetrat	or known	Table 2 Survive	or known	Both	known	Neithe	r known
	M	F	M	F	M	F	M	F

Unclear/Delegate CombinationIDirect/Indirect CombinationIDistract/Direct/Delegate CombinationIDirect/Delegate with Empathy CombinationIObject/Delegate with CombinationIDirect/Delegate with CombinationIObject/Delegate CombinationIObject CombinationI </th <th>3 (3.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)</th> <th>2 (2.2)</th> <th>1 (1.1) 3 (3.3)</th> <th>2 (2.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)</th>	3 (3.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)	2 (2.2)	1 (1.1) 3 (3.3)	2 (2.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)
Direct/Indirect CombinationIDistract/Direct/Delegate CombinationIDirect/Delegate with Empathy CombinationIObject with Assistance/Delegate CombinationIDelegate/Distract Primary CombinationI	3 (3.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)		3 (3.3)	2 (2.3) 1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)
Distract/Direct/Delegate CombinationIDirect/Delegate with Empathy CombinationIDirect with Assistance/Delegate CombinationIDelegate/Distract Primary CombinationI	1 (1.1)			1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)
Direct/Delegate with Empathy CombinationDirect with Assistance/Delegate CombinationDelegate/Distract 	1 (1.1) 1 (1.1)			1 (1.1)
Direct with Assistance/Delegate Combination Delegate/Distract Primary Combination	1 (1.1)			1 (1.1)
Delegate/Distract Primary Combination	1 (1.1)			
Direct/Indirect Secondary Combination				
Delegate/Indirect Tertiary Combination				
Delegate/Distract Secondary Combination				
		Table 26 continued		
Response Type	Perpetrator known	Survivor known	Both known	Neither known
	M F	M F	M F	M F

	# %	# %	#%	# %	# %	# %	#%	# %		
Direct/Indirect Tertiary Combination										
Delegate/Indirect Combination		1 (1.1)						1 (1.1)		
Direct with Assistance/Indirect Combination		1 (1.1)								
Indirect/Distract/Delegate Combination				1 (1.1)						
Delegate/Direct with Assistance Combination		1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)			1 (2.4)			
Distract/Delegate Combination		1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)						
Indirect/Delegate Combination				1 (1.1)				1 (1.1)		
Direct/Indirect/Delegate Combination				1 (1.1)						
Table 26 continued										
Response Type	Perpetrat	or known	Survivor known		Both l	known	Neither known			
	М	F	М	F	М	F	М	F		

المن الق للاستشارات

58

	# %	# %	#%	# %	# %	# %	#%	# %
Distract/Indirect Combination		1 (1.1)						
Delegate/Unclear Combination		1 (1.1)		1 (1.1)				1 (1.1)
Distract/Direct with Assistance Primary Combination							1 (2.4)	
Direct with Assistance/Distract Combination					1 (5.6)			

Frequency and Percentage of Qualitative Responses Across all Three Types of Power-Based Violence

Type of Responses	Sexual	Violence	Dating '	Violence	Stalking		
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	
	# %	# %	# %	# %	#	# %	
Direct					70		
Direct	25 (67.6)	24 (19.8)	18 (48.6)	44 (36.1)	20 (81.1)	55 (45.8)	
Direct Primary		10 (8.3)		6 (4.9)	2 (5.4)	10 (8.3)	
Direct with Assistance	1 (2.7)	9 (7.4)	10 (27.0)	2 (1.6)		1 (0.8)	
Direct with Assistance primary		4 (3.3)		3 (2.5)			
Direct with Assistance Secondary							
Direct with Empathy					1 (2.7)	11 (9.2)	
Direct with Empathy Primary						3 (2.5)	
Direct with Threat			1 (2.7)			5 (4.2)	
Delegate							
Delegate	1 (2.7)	5 (4.1)	3 (8.1)	14 (11.5)		8 (6.7)	
Delegate Primary	1 (2.7)	2 (1.7)				1 (0.8)	
Delegate Secondary							
Delegate with Empathy Secondary							
Delegate with Threat Secondary							
Distract							
Distract		13 (10.7)		19 (15.6)		1 (0.8)	
Distract Primary		4 (3.3)		3 (2.5)			



Table 27 continued									
Type of Responses	Sexual	Violence	Dating	Violence	Stalking				
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female			
	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %			
Distract Secondary									
Distract Tertiary									
Distract with Assistance		1 (0.8)		2 (1.6)					
Indirect									
Indirect			1 (2.7)	3 (2.5)	1 (2.7)	4 (3.3)			
Indirect Primary				2 (1.6)	1 (2.7)	1 (0.8)			
Indirect Secondary									
Indirect Tertiary									
Indirect with Assistance Secondary									
Miscellaneous									
Nothing			2 (5.4)		1 (2.7)	4 (3.3)			
Unclear	2 (5.4)	18 (14.9)	1 (2.7)	8 (6.6)		1 (0.8)			
Nothing Primary				1 (0.8)					
Threat Secondary									
Unclear Primary	1 (2.7)								
Combinations									
Direct/Delegate Combination	3 (8.1)	13 (10.7)		2 (1.6)	1 (2.7)	7 (5.8)			
Direct/Distract Combination	1 (2.7)	3 (2.5)		3 (2.5)		1 (0.8)			
Direct OR Distract				1 (0.8)					



Table 27 continued									
Type of Responses	Sexual	Violence	Dating	Violence	Stalking				
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male #	Female			
	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %			
Delegate/Direct with Threat Combination		1 (0.8)							
Unclear/Delegate Combination		3 (2.5)							
Direct/Indirect Combination		2 (1.3)		3 (2.5)		3 (2.5)			
Distract/Direct/Delegate Combination		1 (0.8)							
Direct/Delegate with Empathy Combination						1 (0.8)			
Direct with Assistance/Delegate Combination		1 (0.8)							
Delegate/Distract Primary Combination		1 (0.8)							
Direct/Indirect Secondary Combination									
Delegate/Indirect Tertiary Combination									
Delegate/Distract Secondary Combination									
Direct/Indirect Tertiary Combination									
Delegate/Indirect Combination		2 (1.7)							



Table 27 continued										
Type of Responses	Sexual	Violence	Dating `	Violence	Stalking					
	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female				
	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %	# %				
Direct with Assistance/Indirect Combination				1 (0.8)						
Indirect/Distract/Delegate Combination										
Delegate/Direct with Assistance Combination	1 (2.7)			2 (1.6)						
Distract/Delegate Combination		1 (0.8)		1 (0.8)						
Indirect/Delegate Combination						2 (1.7)				
Direct/Indirect/Delegate Combination						1 (0.8)				
Distract/Indirect Combination				1 (0.8)						
Delegate/Unclear Combination		3 (2.5)								
Distract/Direct with Assistance Primary Combination	1 (2.7)									
Direct with Assistance/Distract Combination			1 (2.7)							



Broken down between the pre-test, post-test, and follow-up, direct intervention was the most frequently reported behavior overall. The most commonly reported intervention strategies for the pre-test were direct: (n = 80, 20.2%), delegating (n = 8, 2%), indirect (n = 6, 1.5%), and distract (n = 9, 2.3%). For the post-test, the most frequently reported behaviors were direct/direct primary (n = 72, 18.2%), delegate (n = 13, 3.3%), distract (n = 11, 2.8%), and direct delegate compound (n = 6, 1.5%). In the follow-up, the most common behaviors were direct/direct primary (n = 62, 15.7%), delegate (n = 10, 2.5%), distract (n = 13, 3.3%), and direct delegate compound (n = 10, 2.5%). As for secondary strategies, the most frequently reported behavior was delegate (n = 13 pre-test [3.3%], n = 9 post-test [2.3%], and n = 8 follow-up [2.0%]). Delegate and distract were the second most frequently reported bystander behaviors, with delegate being the most commonly reported secondary strategy. Additionally, there is a decrease in direct behavior post Green Dot, while there is an increase in delegate and distract behaviors. This finding may be a result of the intervention teaching students' new applicable behaviors.

In order to examine the impact that relationship to the perpetrator and/or survivor may have had on reported bystander behavior, the responses were broken down into the four categories of relationship: knowing the perpetrator, survivor, both, or neither. For individuals responding to the scenario in which they know the perpetrator the most common responses were direct/direct primary 66 (54.6%), delegate (n = 7, 5.8%), distract (n = 6, 5.0%). For those who knew the survivor in the scenarios, the most frequently reported behaviors were direct (n = 43, 37.7%), delegate (n = 8, 7.0%), indirect (n = 6, 5.3%), distract (n = 11, 9.6%), and the direct delegate compound (n = 12, 10.5%). In the scenarios where both individuals are known to the bystander, the most commonly reported behaviors were direct/direct primary/direct with assistance (n = 61, 55.9%), delegate (n = 6, 5.5%), and distract (n = 8, 7.3%). For scenarios in



which neither individual was known to the bystander, direct/direct primary (n = 58, 45.0%) behaviors were the most commonly reported followed by, delegate (n = 10, 7.8%), and distract (n = 8, 6.2%). There is a large difference between the amount of people who reported directly intervening in which they knew the perpetrator versus when they knew the survivor (55% to 38% respectively). Additionally, delegating was reported most often for those in scenarios in which neither individual was known to the bystander.

The vignettes were separated into three types; sexual violence, dating violence, and stalking, therefore, responses were also examined for each type. For the sexual violence scenario, the most commonly reported behavior was direct/direct primary/direct with assistance (n = 69, (n = 6, 3.0%), distract (n = 13, 6.6%), unclear (n = 20, 10.1%), and direct delegate combination (n = 16, 8.1%). In the dating violence scenario, the most frequently reported behaviors were direct/direct with assistance (n = 74, 37.4%), delegate (n = 17, 8.6%), and distract (n = 19, 9.6%). For the stalking scenario the majority of participants responded with direct/direct with empathy/direct primary (n = 109, 55.1%) and delegate (n = 8, 4.0%). These findings make it clear that participants more frequently report directly intervening in the stalking scenario, as opposed to the sexual or dating violence vignettes. Further participants reported distraction as a response most frequently for the dating violence scenario. A chi-square was run and there was a significant difference between the three types of scenarios, $X^2(4) = 24.40$, $p < 10^{-10}$.01. Next, the adjusted residuals were examined to determine post-hoc which behaviors were significant for each scenario (see Table 28). Results indicated that for sexual violence, distraction was the most common method compared to direct and delegate. In the domestic violence scenario distract and delegate were the most frequently reported. And finally, in the stalking scenario, direct was the most commonly reported behavior.



Chi-square Post-hoc for Reported Bystander Behavior & Scenario

Туре	Sexual			Dating			Stalking		
	Violence			Violence					
Behavior	Direct	Distract	Delegate	Direct	Distract	Delegate	Direct	Distract	Delegate
Count	49	13	6	62	19	17	85	1	8
Percentage	72.1	19.1	8.8	63.3	19.4	17.3	90.4	1.1	8.5
Adjusted residual	-0.7	1.9	9	-3.5	2.5	2.1	4.2	-4.2	-1.3

Note. The adjusted residuals are z-scores, meaning anything above 1.9 is significant.

Finally, the vignettes were also examined across sex (i.e., male and female). For men, the most common type of intervention strategy was direct/direct with assistance (n = 84, 29.1%), followed by delegating (n = 4, 1.4%) and direct delegate compound (n = 4, 1.4%). For women, direct was the most frequently reported response; direct (n = 123, 13.7%), direct with empathy (n = 11, 1.2%) direct with assistance (n = 12, 1.3%), direct primary (n = 26, 2.9%), and direct delegate compound (n = 22, 2.4%). Followed by distraction (n = 33, 3.7%) and delegation (n = 27, 3.0%). Additionally, women reported they would not intervene only slightly more than men (3.0% v. 1.0% respectively).

Exploratory analyses

Linear regressions were conducted to predict bystander behavior based on adverse childhood experiences (ACE; see Table 29). The predictor was the total composite scores for the



ACE, and the outcome was bystander behavior at the pre-test, post-test, and follow-up.

Additionally, the literature notes that specifically sexual abuse is more likely to affect to women and young girls (Finkelhor, Hotaling, Lewis, & Smith, 1990; Wosu, Gelaye, & Williams, 2015). Therefore, in order to ensure findings were not due to a gender effect, sex was controlled for, but the outcome was the same. ACEs did predict reported bystander behavior at pre-test, such that as ACEs decreased bystander behavior increased. Meaning that the more ACEs an individual had the less likely they are to report bystander behavior at the pre-test. However, there is no significant relationship between ACEs and bystander behavior at the post-test and follow-up. Additionally, a second linear regression was conducted to predict bystander behavior based on knowing someone who was sexually assaulted or abused. Knowing someone who had been abused or assaulted did predict bystander behavior at the follow-up. That is knowing someone who had been abuse or assaulted increased participant's likelihood of reporting bystander behaviors at the follow-up.


Table 29

Linear Regression Results for Exploratory Hypotheses

Predictor	Outcome	В	SE	β	t	p	
ACE Total	Bystander	05	.02	34	-3.06	.003*	
	behavior						
	(pre-test)						
ACE Total	Bystander	.01	.04	.03	0.16	.873	
	behavior						
	(post-test)						
ACE Total	Bystander	.04	.03	.19	1.40	.168	
	behavior						
	(follow-up)						
Controlling for sex							
ACE Total	Bystander	05	.02	38	-3.34	.001*	
	behavior						
	(pre-test)						
ACE Total	Bystander	02	.03	08	-0.60	.552	
	behavior						
	(post-test)						
ACE Total	Bystander	.04	.14	.16	1.17	.247	
	behavior						
	(follow-up)						
Know Someone	who has been a	bused or as	aulted				
Know	Bystander	18	09	25	1 98	053	
someone (pre-	behavior	.10	.07	.20	1.90	.000	
test)	(pre-test)						
Know	Bystander	.08	.12	.10	0.65	.521	
someone	behavior						
(post-test)	(post-test)						
Know	Bystander	.261	.11	.318	2.35	.023*	
someone	behavior						
(follow-up)	(follow-up)						

Note. * *p* < 0.05



CHAPTER 4

CONCLUSION

Discussion of Results

The current study looked at reported changes in behavior over time for participants who completed the Green Dot training. These results were then compared to a small assessment only comparison group. The first hypothesis, that Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander behavior for the experimental condition compared to the comparison group, was not supported. Reported rates of bystander behavior were not significantly different between conditions, or between men and women, or over time. Changes in reported rates of bystander behavior over time were not significantly different across groups. Moreover, they were not significantly different over time between men and women.

The second hypothesis was broken down into three parts. The first part of the second hypothesis, that Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander efficacy for the experimental condition compared to the comparison group, was not supported. Reported rates of bystander efficacy were not significantly between men and women, or over time. However, reported rates of bystander efficacy were significantly different by condition, such that individuals in the comparison group reported significantly higher rates of bystander efficacy compared to the comparison condition. However, changes in reported bystander efficacy over time were not significantly different across groups, nor were they significantly different over time between men and women.

The second part of the hypothesis, that Green Dot would significantly increase reported bystander attitudes for the experimental condition compared to the comparison group, was not supported. Reported rates of bystander attitudes were not significantly different by condition, or



between men and women, or over time. Additionally, changes in reported rates of bystander attitudes over time were not significantly different across groups. Moreover, they were not significantly different over time between men and women.

The third part of the second hypothesis stated that negative perceived social sexual norms for males and females would decrease over time for the experimental group as opposed to the comparison group. Meaning, it was hypothesized that the perception of sexual aggression and bystander behaviors of the average person on campus would decrease over time for the experimental group, as opposed to the comparison group. This hypothesis was not supported. Perceived norms for males were not significantly different by condition, or over time. However, perceived social sexual norms for males were significantly different between men and women, such that males in the sample perceived the average male on campus to be lower in sexual aggression, and more likely to display bystander behaviors, compared to females in the sample. Changes in perceived social sexual norms for the average male on campus over time did not significantly vary over time across groups, or over time between men and women. Additionally, pertaining to the social sexual norms for females, reported perceptions were not significantly different by condition, or between men and women, or over time. Changes over time were not significantly different over time across groups. Moreover, they were not significantly different over time between men and women.

Additionally, there were two exploratory hypotheses. The first was that ACEs would significantly predict bystander behavior. And the second was that knowing someone who had experienced sexual trauma would significantly increase bystander behavior. ACEs did significantly predict bystander behavior at the pre-test, such that as instances of ACEs increased, the rate of reported bystander behavior at the pre-test, decreased. There was no relationship



between ACEs and bystander behavior at the post-test or the follow-up. The literature indicates that ACEs can predict future trauma (Smith et al., 2003; Jewkes et al., 2015), and, it appears that in this sample, ACEs also have an impact on future bystander behavior. Further, knowing someone who was abused or assaulted also increased reported bystander behavior at the follow-up. This finding is similar to McMahon (2010), and Banyard (2008), who both found that knowing someone who was abused or assaulted increased reported bystander willingness, compared to those who did not know someone. Additionally, this finding is only significant at the follow-up. However, this may be due to the fact that participant's may not have known prior to the study if someone in their family or social circle was assaulted or abused in the past. It is possible that Green Dot opened communication between people about the topic of power-based violence, and the sharing of personal experiences with it.

Overall, findings for this study were largely non-significant, and there are a few possible reasons for this. The first is that the sample sizes were small. The second is that individuals who went through the training were all volunteers, meaning that many participants may have been already been aware that power-based violence was a problem on campus that needed to be addressed. Also, these participants had no incentive to attend the training aside from personal improvement. They were not given extra credit for class or paid. That makes this group of participants highly motivated, and, most likely, very different from the general population. Finally, the post-test and follow-up were one week and one-month post intervention, therefore, the timing of the assessments may have led to a lack in reported behaviors because students did not have time to enact such behaviors.

Another important factor is that due to Green Dot's use of the Diffusion of Innovation, and recruitment of POLs, many of the targeted students on campus were leaders in the



community. These leaders, being nominated by faculty members and other students, were positioned as prominent individuals in the community, who were well liked, and have influence. As such, the actual training may not have influenced their bystander behaviors because they may be predisposed (due to their position in the community) to already employ these intervention strategies.

Conclusively, the current study did not find any significant changes over time for either group membership or sex. However, there were significant differences between groups on bystander efficacy, such that the comparison group had higher rates of bystander efficacy. Additionally, there were significant differences between men and women on the perceived social sexual norms for the average male on campus, meaning that women perceived the average male on campus to be more sexually aggressive, and less likely to intervene, compared to men in the sample. Although these results should be interpreted with caution, as the sample sizes were small, it is important to explore explanations for these differences.

Bystander efficacy. The finding that the comparison group had higher bystander efficacy, compared to the experimental group, is somewhat surprising as the comparison group did not get the intervention. This finding may be due to the fact that the comparison group was comprised of students who signed up for the training, but could not, or decided not, to attend. It is possible that students in the comparison group already felt qualified to address sexual violence and as such, decided not to attend the intervention. Therefore, these students may have already felt efficacious in their bystander behavior. This may account for higher scores in the comparison group, as compared to the experimental group. It should also be noted; the comparison group was very small. It is possible that the scores for this group may not reflect a true comparison



group. Future research should aim to have random assignment which will control for differences between the experimental and control group.

Social sexual norms – **males.** The results for the social sexual norms inventory for the average male on campus reveal an interesting finding, that men perceived the average male on campus to be lower on sexual aggression and have more positive social sexual behaviors, compared to how women view the average male on campus.

Although speculation, the findings in the current study may be due to the historical perception of male sexuality, such that women may see men as more sexually active and aggressive. Further, in the middle of this study a movement of historical proportions happened, known as the #MeToo movement (J. Bennett, 2017; Gilbert, 2017). This particular movement brought to light the sexual misconduct of many men in positions of power, and resulted in numerous high profile men losing their jobs (J. Bennett, 2017). And even in the present time, months after the explosion of the movement, the media reports on a new case of a high-profile male being caught and reprimanded for sexual misconduct, on a frequent basis (Johnson & Hawbaker, 2018). Women are bombarded with the news that men are committing sexual atrocities on a regular basis. This bombardment may help to explain why women were significantly more likely to rate the average male as being more sexually aggressive, and have less prosocial attitudes towards intervening, than men in the sample. Additionally, the men in this sample were all volunteers, therefore, they may be more prosocial and willing to intervene than the general population. The voluntary nature of this study may result in men in the sample believing that other men on campus are similar to them, while women have a much different perception.

Qualitative Data



The following results are gathered from the analyses of frequencies of qualitative responses, in combination with the chi-square analysis. As noted in the results section, direct intervention was the most commonly used intervention method across all scenarios no matter what the relationship was between the bystander, and the perpetrator/survivor. Also, very few people reported doing nothing in the scenarios. Further, there were two examples of students who reported that they would do nothing in pre-test stalking condition, and then in the post-test, reported intervening in some manner. Additionally, there was a difference in the frequency of response styles over time, such that reported direct intervention decreased over time, while delegating and distracting behaviors increased. These two findings may be indicative of the impact of the bystander training. Although small, these qualitatively details show how students may learn new behaviors and strategies.

The qualitative frequency findings indicate that people report they are (hypothetically) willing to intervene and, most frequently, to do so directly. According to previous literature this finding is not surprising. Palmer and colleagues (2016) found that 67% of their college student sample reported directly intervening when they knew either the perpetrator or survivor. Additionally, in the current study, participants were not afraid to get others involved as delegating was the most frequently reported secondary strategy. Palmer et al. (2016), also found that a substantial portion of their participants would use delegating as an intervention strategy (16%).

Relationship to the survivor/perpetrator also played a role in how participants reported bystander strategies. Participants report being more likely to directly intervene when they knew the perpetrator compared to when they knew the survivor. This finding was unexpected as previous research has found that college students are more willing to directly intervene if they



know the survivor (S. Bennett & Banyard, 2016), or are *just as willing* to intervene if they know the survivor/perpetrator (Branch, Richards, & Dretsch, 2013). However, Palmer et al. (2016) found that bystander intervention was not dependent on knowing the survivor specifically, or the perpetrator specifically. Merely knowing one of them was the motivating factor behind intervention, which may account for the current findings. Further, if the bystander did not know either the survivor or the perpetrator in the scenario, they more frequently reported using delegating strategies, perhaps to satisfy their desire to intervene while quelling their fear of possible retaliation for direct or distract behaviors (Palmer et al., 2016). It is possible that individuals are worried about ramifications for intervening, however, if a bystander knows the perpetrator it may be easier to intervene under the guise of protecting the perpetrator from legal or academic consequences.

In reference to the assessment time and response type, overall direct intervention was the most commonly reported behavior for the pre-test, post-test, and follow-up. However, rates of reported direct intervention actually decline over time from about 20% at the pre-test, to 18% at the post-test, and 15% at the follow-up. At the same time, rates of delegate and distract increase 5% pre-test, 10% post-test, 8% follow-up, and 6% pre-test, 10% post-test, and 11% follow-up, respectively. The increase in reported potential delegate and distract behaviors could be due to the intervention, and student's recognizing that there are more behaviors than direct for bystander intervention. In other words, Green Dot seeks to teach students new ways of bystander behavior than merely directly intervening in the situation. The current finding of increased diversity in response frequency, although small, could indicate the effectiveness of the intervention for teaching students a multitude of methods for intervening.



Further, there are some slight differences in the way that men and women report they would behave in these scenarios. Although, these findings should be interpreted with caution (as there were only 16 men in the sample), it is interesting to note that men less frequently report using the distraction method as a tool for intervention, as opposed to women. Men and women were both likely to report using direct or delegating behaviors, but men report distraction less frequently compared to women. This finding may be due to a lack of fear of repercussions for men (Burn, 2009), however, this suggested implication is not quite satisfying in explaining why men are also likely to use delegating (instead of direct) as a means of intervention. Perhaps it is the idea that the distraction method is elaborate and time consuming, whereas stereotypically men are more likely to be direct, or to directly address a problem, through delegating (Palmer et al., 2016). However, future research should examine this in more detail. Additionally, in the current study women had a slightly higher frequency for reporting no intervention. This finding also falls in line with the idea that women may be afraid of the potential consequences (i.e., retaliatory violence) of intervening. Although this fear is warranted, there is not enough data to build a solid theory, as to this finding, at the current time. Future research should delve into this further, as it may be also be related to upbringing, or culture, etc.

Moreover, direct intervention was most frequently reported in the stalking scenario compared to the sexual or dating violence scenario. The stalking scenario did not involve visibly aggressive behavior (i.e., compared to the male punching the wall in the dating violence vignette). Therefore, students may feel more comfortable, and secure, using direct intervention in this scenario. A common theme in the stalking scenario was empathy, or individuals telling the perpetrator about their personal experience with a similar situation and discussing why the perpetrators behavior was wrong. This use of empathy is an interesting finding as the bystander



is working to change the norms of the perpetrator through sharing personal information. Sharing this type of information is not necessary to intervene. It is an extra step the participant is willing to take in order to show the perpetrator what it is like to be on the receiving end of harassment. Additionally, participants reported using distraction as a common response to the dating violence scenario. The dating violence vignette included seeing physical aggression (i.e., the perpetrator hitting a wall). Therefore, participants may feel more comfortable using the distraction method as a tool of intervention for safety purposes. Further, Palmer et al. (2016) found a similar pattern. Their sample compared responses to the dating violence, and a sexual violence scenario, and they found that individuals were more likely to use direct intervention in the sexual violence scenario compared to the dating violence, and more likely to use indirect intervention in the dating violence scenario compared to the sexual violence.

Implications for Green Dot

The findings of this study, although interpreted with caution, give an insight into the effects, and potential future directions, of Green Dot, at the participating university. The first is targeting men is vital to encouraging intervention because they are half the population, but sometimes neglected in bystander intervention programs (i.e., there were only 16 men, or 21% of the sample, in the current study). The second implication is the potential relationship between the bystander and survivor/perpetrator. It is clear that knowing either person in the situation influences how one responds, therefore, it is essential that this is addressed during the training. For example, it may be important to emphasize that delegating is always an option in situations in which you do not know either the survivor or perpetrator. The third implication is that students appear to be paying attention to the 3 D's, and the different types of bystander behaviors mentioned in the training. There is an increase over time in reported delegate and distract



behaviors, and this may indicate that Green Dot is increasing the tools students have to use when faced with bystander situations

Finally, it is important that there is consistency in the Green Dot trainings on campus. Although there were no significant differences between the trainings for this study, there were some inconsistencies between trainers. These differences are to be expected as the trainers are volunteers who give their time to this cause. But it may be beneficial to have a yearly retreat, or training, where campus trainers come together, and review the material and discuss how it will be presented in the coming year. It is also important to continue evaluating Green Dot on campus. The student body changes rapidly with the culture, and it is vital that Green Dot keep up.

Limitations

Although this study was beneficial to the participating university on progress and effectiveness of Green Dot on campus, there are some limitations. First, this study was not able to randomize the experimental and assessment-only comparison groups. Second, every student beginning their undergraduate career at Old Dominion University is mandated to participate in "First Class", which is an orientation the Saturday before beginning the fall semester. During this orientation students must attend a 30-minute lecture on sexual and dating violence, given by the Women's Center. There are also resources given to the students, and time for a short answer and discussion portion. As *all* students are mandated to receive this (and have been for the last four years). It is possible that this impacted results, possibly contributing to the high rate of bystander behaviors, efficacy, attitudes, and perceived norms at baseline, and the lack of change over time. Third, as this was a longitudinal study, attrition did occur, however, the rate was fairly low.



for the comparison and experimental group). Before conducting the study, a power analysis was conducted, and it was determined that to have adequate power there needed to be 83 subjects per condition (formula from West et al., 2011). Although this number is high, approximately 20 -25 students attended each training session, totaling 80-100 people. Therefore, it was assumed that sufficient power would be obtained. However, the final sample size for the experimental group was 43, and 7 for the comparison group. The lack of power obtained was surprising given the monetary incentive for students. Fifth, demographic variables like race, etc., were not examined as potential mediating or moderating factors. Although, it is important to understand the intersectionality of demographic variables on bystander behaviors there was not enough data to allow for such in-depth analyses.

Although this research is important there was a lack of time. If there was an unlimited amount of time, the intended sample size would probably have been achieved, and the results may be different. It is important to note, the small sample size is a limitation, but is *not* a reflection of the work done on campus by the Women's Center and/or other prevention efforts on campus. The work that the Women's Center does is vital, and important. Hopefully, this study will be a testament to the positive work that is currently being done by the Women's Center, and its staff and volunteers.

In addition to a small sample size, the sample of Green Dot participants consisted of volunteers. Therefore, it is possible that this sample was different from the general campus population. The participants in this study may already be conscientious and active bystanders on campus.

Future Directions



The results of the current study indicate that more research needs to be conducted on this topic. Future studies would be advantageous to include random assignment, with a control group that gets an intervention (e.g., an intervention on increasing studying productivity). Also, exploring why specific bystander behaviors vary between men and women would be beneficial. Additionally, with a larger sample size, demographic variables should be examined in depth, as there are many different demographic variables that play an important role in an individual's decision to be an active bystander (Amar et al., 2014; Brown et al., 2014; Diamond-Welch et al., 2016; Fabiano et al., 2003; Gable et al., 2017; Kilmartin et al., 2008). This concept of intersectionality on bystander intervention, is an important construct as people are impacted by the different facets that make up who they are as individuals, and these inform their decision making. For example, how does race impact one's decision to intervene? Does the race of the survivor or the perpetrator matter when making a decision to intervene? If so, how does it impact that decision (i.e., the type of intervention method used; direct, delegate, distract)? What if the survivor and the perpetrator are (or present) as the same gender/sex? These are all very important questions that should be examined in future research, particularly at the participating university, which is a minority serving institution, and has a very diverse population.

Further, the efficacy of booster sessions should be examined, and the impact they may have on maintaining bystander behaviors post-intervention. It would be interesting to see what types of booster sessions are most effective (i.e., ones that discuss bystander behavior in the real world or in the news versus booster sessions that discuss bystander behaviors on campus). As well as, the effectiveness of newsletters, and the dissemination of information, to the Green Dot Alumni at a university. Additionally, the current university is conducting focus groups on minority populations to understand how to better serve the entire population. It would be



beneficial to examine the results from these focus groups and determine how the information is being used in order to create more effective means of communicating with minority groups on campus.

Conclusion

The current study sought to examine the effectiveness of the Green Dot program at the participating university by looking at bystander behaviors, efficacy and attitudes, and social sexual norms. There were some interesting and unexpected findings in this study. The first being that the comparison group had significantly higher bystander efficacy at pre-test. Again, this finding should be interpreted with caution because the sample size of the comparison group was very small, but it is still interesting. Additionally, there was a significant difference between men and women in the perception of the average males' social sexual behavior. The significant difference between men and women, indicates that males in the sample perceived the average male on campus to be lower on sexual aggression, and have more positive social behaviors, when compared to women in the sample. Although this finding may appear to be common sense, it points to a deeper belief for women that males are more sexually active and aggressive than women. Additionally, this finding may be "denial" on part of the men in the study who may hold themselves and other men to higher standards compared with men who did not voluntarily participate in this study. Further, ACEs did negatively predict bystander behavior at pre-test, and knowing someone who had been abused or assaulted predicted bystander behavior at the followup. These findings are interesting because they have yet to be explored in the literature and may also help bystander programs in the future. It is possible that prevention programs could incorporate ACEs, and/or knowing someone who has been impacted by abuse or assault, into components of their training program.



In reference to the qualitative data there were also many interesting findings. The first is that direct intervention was the most commonly reported intervention behavior, no matter what scenario or gender of the participant. Second, people were more likely to report direct intervention if they knew the perpetrator, compared to the survivor. This finding was unexpected but could be related to the participant not wanting to their friend to get into trouble for his actions or feeling safe to intervene. Further, men were less likely to report using distraction as a method for intervention when compared to women, perhaps due to viewing the distraction method as time consuming (i.e., coming up with an excuse/ploy to interrupt the behavior). Finally, students were more likely to report using direct intervention with the stalking scenario, compared to the dating or sexual violence scenario. Possibly because the stalking scenario included the least amount of violence, or possible chances or retaliation from the perpetrator.

There were multiple unique aspects of this study, the first being the longitudinal research model. Recent studies have advocated for more longitudinal research in sexual violence prevention to better understand the potential long-term impact on bystander behavior (Brown et al., 2014; Hoxmeier et al., 2016). Second, the current study explored the bystander relationship to the survivor and perpetrator. There are studies that examine the relationship between bystander behavior and survivor/perpetrator relationship (Azimi & Daigle, 2017; Banyard, 2008; Palmer et al., 2016), and these studies have mixed results. Third, potential bystander behaviors were examined qualitatively with a foundation in the 3 D's that Green Dot uses to teach participants new possible intervention strategies. Lastly, this study was unique because it examined the potential relationship between previous abuse (or knowing someone with previous abuse) and bystander behaviors.



The current research on Green Dot and other bystander intervention programs indicates potential and promise when it comes to increasing bystander behavior (Banyard et al., 2009; Coker et al., 2015). The current study sought to further our understanding of Green Dot, and to examine predictors, which may potentially increase bystander behavior. As a program and intervention, Green Dot works to target campus leaders who have a wide influence on fellow college students to increase the spread of Green Dot ideas and encourage the campus wide shift of the cultural acceptance of violence (diffusion of innovation). In better understanding the efficacy of bystander intervention programs, there can be increased precision and efficiency in targeting individuals who are likely to be active bystanders, and leaders in challenging accepted norms surrounding power-based violence on campus. Although there is some research pointing to the efficacy and impact of Green Dot (e.g., Coker et al. 2015), the current study did not find support for Green Dot at the participating university. Further, because the changes made by the current political administration, funding for prevention programs has been severely cut, and the participating university no longer conducts Green Dot trainings. However, the lack of understanding of the dynamics of campus sexual violence on part of society at large, and specifically the current political administration's shift in focus to the due process rights of the accused, point to the importance of studying sexual violence prevention. The misunderstanding of campus sexual violence is a reminder that the fight to end sexual violence is not over, there is still much work to be done.



REFERENCES

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211.
- Amar, A. F., Sutherland, M., & Laughon, K. (2014). Gender differences in attitudes and beliefs associated with bystander behavior and sexual assault. *Journal of Forensic Nursing*, 10(2), 84-91.
- Annual Security and Fire Safety Report. (2016). Retrieved from Old Dominion University Police Department: http://www.odu.edu/content/dam/odu/offices/police/docs/security-firesafety-report-web.pdf
- Azimi, A. M., & Daigle, L. E. (2017). Promising avenues for prevention: Confronting sexual victimization on college campuses. In *Preventing Crime and Violence* (pp. 243-260): New York, NY.: Springer.
- Balsam, K. F., Rothblum, E. D., & Beauchaine, T. P. (2005). Victimization over the life span: A comparison of lesbian, gay, bisexual, and heterosexual siblings. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 73(3), 477-487.
- Banyard, V. L. (2008). Measurement and correlates of prosocial bystander behavior: The case of interpersonal violence. *Violence and Victims*, 23(1), 83-97.
- Banyard, V. L., Eckstein, R. P., & Moynihan, M. M. (2010). Sexual violence prevention: The role of stages of change. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(1), 111-135.
- Banyard, V. L., & Moynihan, M. M. (2011). Variation in bystander behavior related to sexual and intimate partner violence prevention: Correlates in a sample of college students. *Psychology of Violence*, 1(4), 287-301.



- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M., & Crossman, M. T. (2009). Reducing sexual violence on campus: The role of student leaders as empowered bystanders. *Journal of College Student Development*, 50(4), 446-457.
- Banyard, V. L., Moynihan, M. M., Walsh, W. A., Cohn, E. S., & Ward, S. (2010). Friends of survivors: The community impact of unwanted sexual experiences. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(2), 242-256.
- Basile, K. C., Smith, S. G., Breiding, M. J., Black, M. C., & Mahendra, R. (2014). Sexual violence surveillance: Uniform definitions and recommended data elements, Version 2.0. *Centers for Disease Control and Prevention National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Atlanta, Georgia*, 1-127.
- Bastiaensens, S., Vandebosch, H., Poels, K., Van Cleemput, K., Desmet, A., & De
 Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2014). Cyberbullying on social network sites. An experimental study into bystanders' behavioural intentions to help the victim or reinforce the bully. *Computers in Human Behavior, 31*, 259-271.
- Bennett, J. (2017). The# MeToo movement: When the blinders come off. The New York Times.
- Bennett, S., & Banyard, V. L. (2016). Do friends really help friends? The effect of relational factors and perceived severity on bystander perception of sexual violence. *Psychology of Violence*, 6(1), 64-72.
- Berkowitz, A. D. (2010). Fostering healthy norms to prevent violence and abuse: The social norms approach. In K. Kaufman (Ed.), *The prevention of sexual violence: A practitioner's sourcebook* (pp. 147-171). Holyoke, MA.: NEARI Press.
- Bernard, H. R., Wutich, A., & Ryan, G. W. (2016). *Analyzing qualitative data: Systematic approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA.: SAGE publications.



- Birks, M., & Mills, J. (2015). *Grounded theory: A practical guide*. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publishing.
- Bolger, D., & Brodsky, A. (2017). Betsy DeVos's Title IX interpretation is an attack on sexual assault survivors. Retrieved September 16 2017, from The Washington Post https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/wp/2017/09/08/betsy-devoss-titleix-interpretation-is-an-attack-on-sexual-assault-survivors/?utm_term=.11ddbf96d9a0
- Branch, K. A., Richards, T. N., & Dretsch, E. C. (2013). An exploratory analysis of college students' response and reporting behavior regarding intimate partner violence victimization and perpetration among their friends. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 28(18), 3386-3399.
- Brown, A. L., Banyard, V. L., & Moynihan, M. M. (2014). College students as helpful bystanders against sexual violence: Gender, race, and year in college moderate the impact of perceived peer norms. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 38(3), 350-362.
- Brown, A. L., & Messman-Moore, T. L. (2010). Personal and perceived peer attitudes supporting sexual aggression as predictors of male college students' willingness to intervene against sexual aggression. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 25(3), 503-517.
- Bruner, J. (2003). Measuring rape-supportive attitudes, behaviors, and perceived peer norms among college men: Validation of a social norms survey. University of Northern Colorado, Greeley.
- Burn, S. M. (2009). A situational model of sexual assault prevention through bystander intervention. *Sex Roles, 60*(11-12), 779-792.
- Cantor, D., Fisher, B., Chibnall, S. H., Townsend, R., Lee, H., Thomas, G., . . . Westat, I. (2015). Report on the AAU campus climate survey on sexual assault and sexual misconduct.



- Cohen, J. (1960). A coefficient of agreement for nominal scales. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 20(1), 37-46.
- Coker, A. L., Fisher, B. S., Bush, H. M., Swan, S. C., Williams, C. M., Clear, E. R., & DeGue, S. (2015). Evaluation of the Green Dot bystander intervention to reduce interpersonal violence among college students across three campuses. *Violence Against Women*, 21(12), 1507-1527.

Title IX of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 20 U.S.C. §§ 1681–168 C.F.R. (1972).

- Cook-Craig, P. G., Coker, A. L., Clear, E. R., Garcia, L. S., Bush, H. M., Brancato, C. J., ...
 Fisher, B. S. (2014). Challenge and opportunity in evaluating a diffusion-based active bystanding prevention program: Green dot in high schools. *Violence Against Women*, 20(10), 1179-1202.
- Cook-Craig, P. G., Millspaugh, P. H., Recktenwald, E. A., Kelly, N. C., Hegge, L. M., Coker, A. L., & Pletcher, T. S. (2014). From empower to Green Dot: Successful strategies and lessons learned in developing comprehensive sexual violence primary prevention programming. *Violence Against Women*, 20(10), 1162-1178.
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions. In: Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Darley, J. M., & Latane, B. (1968). Bystander intervention in emergencies: diffusion of responsibility. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 8(41), 377-383.
- Darlington, E. (2014). Decreasing misperceptions of sexual violence to increase bystander intervention: A social norms intervention. University of Oregon.



- DeMaria, A. L., Sundstrom, B., Grzejdziak, M., Booth, K., Adams, H., Gabel, C., & Cabot, J. (2015). It's Not My Place: Formative Evaluation Research to Design a Bystander
 Intervention Campaign. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 33(3), 1-23.
- DeSmet, A., Veldeman, C., Poels, K., Bastiaensens, S., Van Cleemput, K., Vandebosch, H., & De Bourdeaudhuij, I. (2014). Determinants of self-reported bystander behavior in cyberbullying incidents amongst adolescents. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking, 17*(4), 207-215.
- Diamond-Welch, B. K., Hetzel-Riggin, M. D., & Hemingway, J. A. (2016). The willingness of college students to intervene in sexual assault situations: attitude and behavior differences by gender, race, age, and community of origin. *Violence and Gender, 3*(1), 49-54.
- Dube, S. R., Anda, R. F., Felitti, V. J., Chapman, D. P., Williamson, D. F., & Giles, W. H. (2001). Childhood abuse, household dysfunction, and the risk of attempted suicide throughout the life span: findings from the Adverse Childhood Experiences Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 286(24), 3089-3096.
- Dube, S. R., Felitti, V. J., Dong, M., Chapman, D. P., Giles, W. H., & Anda, R. F. (2003). Childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction and the risk of illicit drug use: the adverse childhood experiences study. *Pediatrics*, 111(3), 564-572.
- Espelage, D., Green, H., & Polanin, J. (2012). Willingness to intervene in bullying episodes among middle school students: Individual and peer-group influences. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 32(6), 776-801.
- Fabiano, P. M., Perkins, H. W., Berkowitz, A., Linkenbach, J., & Stark, C. (2003). Engaging men as social justice allies in ending violence against women: Evidence for a social norms approach. *Journal of American College Health*, 52(3), 105-112.



- Feingold, A. (2009). Effect sizes for growth-modeling analysis for controlled clinical trials in the same metric as for classical analysis. *Psychological Methods*, *14*(1), 43-53.
- Felitti, V. J. (2002). The relation between adverse childhood experiences and adult health: Turning gold into lead. *Permanente Journal*, *6*(1), 44-70.
- Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., . . .
 Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE)
 Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 14(4), 245-258.
- Finkelhor, D., Hotaling, G., Lewis, I., & Smith, C. (1990). Sexual abuse in a national survey of adult men and women: Prevalence, characteristics, and risk factors. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 14(1), 19-28.
- Fisher, B. S., Cullen, F. T., & Turner, M. G. (2000). The Sexual Victimization of College Women. Research Report. *Department of Justice*.
- Frazier, P. A. (2003). Perceived control and distress following sexual assault: a longitudinal test of a new model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 84(6), 1-212.
- Gable, S. C., Lamb, S., Brodt, M., & Atwell, L. (2017). Intervening in a "Sketchy Situation":
 Exploring the moral motivations of college bystanders of sexual assault. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1-24.
- Gidycz, C. A., Orchowski, L. M., & Berkowitz, A. D. (2011). Preventing sexual aggression among college men: An evaluation of a social norms and bystander intervention program. *Violence Against Women*, 17(6), 720-742.

Gilbert, S. (2017). The movement of# MeToo. The Atlantic, 16.



- Gini, G., Pozzoli, T., & Bussey, K. (2015). The role of individual and collective moral disengagement in peer aggression and bystanding: A multilevel analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 43(3), 441-452.
- Giraldi, A. M. (2016). "Just Young Dudes Having Fun"?: Social Media Reactions to the ODU Banner Incident. *Old Dominion University Thesis*.
- Hatten, S. (2017). Likelihood of Bystander Intervention as a Function of Perceived Social Norms. *University of Wyoming Thesis*.
- Henrick, S. (2013). A hostile environment for student defendants: Title IX and sexual assault on college campuses. *40 N. KY. L. REV. 49*(53).
- Hoxmeier, J. C., Flay, B. R., & Acock, A. C. (2016). Control, norms, and attitudes: differences between students who do and do not intervene as bystanders to sexual assault. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1-23. doi:10.1177/0886260515625503
- Jewkes, R., Flood, M., & Lang, J. (2015). From work with men and boys to changes of social norms and reduction of inequities in gender relations: a conceptual shift in prevention of violence against women and girls. *The Lancet*, 385(9977), 1580-1589.
- Johnson, C. A., & Hawbaker, K. (2018). # MeToo: A Timeline of Events. Chicago Tribune, 15.
- Jouriles, E. N., Rosenfield, D., Yule, K., Sargent, K. S., & McDonald, R. (2016). Predicting high-school students' bystander behavior in simulated dating violence situations. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 58(3), 345-351.
- Kelly, J. A., St. Lawrence, J. S., Diaz, Y. E., Stevenson, L. Y., Hauth, A. C., Brasfield, S. C., et al. (1991). HIV risk behavior reduction following intervention with key opinion leaders of a population: An experimental analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, *81*, 168-171.



- Kendrick, P., Apenyo, T., & Callender Highlander, H. (2017). Agent-Based models of the green dot bystander violence prevention program on college campuses. *Spora: A Journal of Biomathematics*, 3(1), 2-28.
- Kilmartin, C., Smith, T., Green, A., Heinzen, H., Kuchler, M., & Kolar, D. (2008). A real time social norms intervention to reduce male sexism. *Sex Roles*, *59*(3-4), 264-273.
- Koss, M. P. (1992). The under detection of rape: Methodological choices influence incidence estimates. *Journal of Social Issues*, 48(1), 61-75.
- Krebs, C. P., Lindquist, C. H., Warner, T. D., Fisher, B. S., & Martin, S. L. (2009). College women's experiences with physically forced, alcohol-or other drug-enabled, and drugfacilitated sexual assault before and since entering college. *Journal of American College Health*, 57(6), 639-649.
- Littleton, H., & Decker, M. (2016). Predictors of resistance self-efficacy among rape victims and association with revictimization risk: A longitudinal study. *Psychology of Violence*. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/vio0000066
- Live the Green Dot. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.livethegreendot.com/index.html
- McCoach, D. B., & Kaniskan, B. (2010). Using time-varying covariates in multilevel growth models. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *1*, 17.
- McMahon, S. (2010). Rape myth beliefs and bystander attitudes among incoming college students. *Journal of American College Health*, *59*(1), 3-11.
- McMahon, S. (2015). Participation in high school sports and bystander intentions, efficacy to intervene, and rape myth beliefs. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 30*(17), 2980-2998.
- McMahon, S., Peterson, N. A., Winter, S. C., Palmer, J. E., Postmus, J. L., & Koenick, R. A. (2015a). Predicting Bystander Behavior to Prevent Sexual Assault on College Campuses:



The Role of Self-Efficacy and Intent. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 56(1), 46-56. doi:10.1007/s10464-015-9740-0

- McMahon, S., Peterson, N. A., Winter, S. C., Palmer, J. E., Postmus, J. L., & Koenick, R. A. (2015b). Predicting bystander behavior to prevent sexual assault on college campuses: The role of self-efficacy and intent. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 56(1-2), 46-56.
- McMahon, S., Postmus, J. L., Warrener, C., & Koenick, R. A. (2014). Utilizing peer education theater for the primary prevention of sexual violence on college campuses. *Journal of College Student Development*, 55(1), 78-85.
- Messman-Moore, T. L., & Long, P. J. (2003). The role of childhood sexual abuse sequelae in the sexual revictimization of women: An empirical review and theoretical reformulation. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23(4), 537-571.
- Messman-Moore, T. L., Walsh, K. L., & DiLillo, D. (2010). Emotion dysregulation and risky sexual behavior in revictimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *34*(12), 967-976.
- Miller, T. R., Cohen, M. A., & Wiersema, B. (1996). Victim costs and consequences: A new look. *National Institute of Justice*, 1-31.
- Morrissey, J. P., Ellis, A. R., Gatz, M., Amaro, H., Reed, B. G., Savage, A., . . . Jackson, E. W. (2005). Outcomes for women with co-occurring disorders and trauma: Program and person-level effects. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 28(2), 121-133.
- Muehlenhard, C. L., Peterson, Z. D., Humphreys, T. P., & Jozkowski, K. N. (2017). Evaluating the one-in-five statistic: Women's risk of sexual assault while in college. *The Journal of Sex Research*, 54(4-5), 549-576.



- O'Connell, A. A., & McCoach, D. B. (2004). Applications of hierarchical linear models for evaluations of health interventions: Demystifying the methods and interpretations of multilevel models. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 27(2), 119-151.
- Organization, W. H. (2013). Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence: executive summary. In *Global and regional estimates of violence against women: prevalence and health effects of intimate partner violence and non-partner sexual violence: executive summary* (pp. 1-50).
- Palmer, J. E., Nicksa, S. C., & McMahon, S. (2016). Does who you know affect how you act?
 The impact of relationships on bystander intervention in interpersonal violence situations. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 33(17), 1-20.
- Peterson, C., DeGue, S., Florence, C., & Lokey, C. N. (2017). Lifetime economic burden of rape among US adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 52(6), 691-701.
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods* (Vol. 1). Thousnd Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Raudenbush, S. W., Bryk, A. S., Cheong, Y. F., Congdon, R., & Du Toit, M. (2011). Hierarchical linear and nonlinear modeling (HLM7). *Lincolnwood, IL: Scientific Software International*.
- Reuben, A., Moffitt, T. E., Caspi, A., Belsky, D. W., Harrington, H., Schroeder, F., . . . Danese,
 A. (2016). Lest we forget: Comparing retrospective and prospective assessments of
 adverse childhood experiences in the prediction of adult health. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 57(10), 1103-1112.

Rogers, E. M., & Williams, D. (1983). Diffusion of. Innovations. Glencoe, IL: The Free Press.



- Saltz, R. F., Paschall, M. J., McGaffigan, R. P., & Nygaard, P. M. (2010). Alcohol risk management in college settings: The safer California universities randomized trial. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 39(6), 491-499.
- Schreier, M. (2012). *Qualitative content analysis in practice*. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Schulenberg, J., & Maggs, J. L. (2001). Moving targets: Modeling developmental trajectories of adolescent alcohol misuse, individual and peer risk factors, and intervention effects. *Applied Developmental Science*, 5(4), 237-253.
- Schwartz, M. D., & DeKeseredy, W. (1997). Sexual assault on the college campus: The role of male peer support. Thousand Oaks, CA.: Sage Publications.
- Schwartz, M. D., DeKeseredy, W. S., Tait, D., & Alvi, S. (2001). Male peer support and a feminist routing activities theory: Understanding sexual assault on the college campus. *Justice Quarterly*, 18(3), 623-649.
- Sexton, M. B., Avallone, K. M., Smith, E. R., Porter, K. E., Ashrafioun, L., Arnedt, J. T., & Rauch, S. A. (2017). Sleep disturbances as predictors of prolonged exposure therapy effectiveness among veterans with PTSD. *Psychiatry Research*, 256, 118-123.
- Smith, P. H., White, J. W., & Holland, L. J. (2003). A longitudinal perspective on dating violence among adolescent and college-age women. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(7), 1104-1109.
- Steele, H., Bate, J., Steele, M., Dube, S. R., Danskin, K., Knafo, H., . . . Murphy, A. (2016). Adverse childhood experiences, poverty, and parenting stress. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 48(1), 32-38.



- Stueve, A., Dash, K., O'Donnell, L., Tehranifar, P., Wilson-Simmons, R., Slaby, R. G., & Link,
 B. G. (2006). Rethinking the bystander role in school violence prevention. *Health Promotion Practice*, 7(1), 117-124.
- Sun, J., Knowles, M., Patel, F., Frank, D. A., Heeren, T. C., & Chilton, M. (2016). Childhood adversity and adult reports of food insecurity among households with children. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 50(5), 561-572.
- Tangney, J. P., Stuewig, J., & Mashek, D. J. (2007). Moral emotions and moral behavior. Annual Review of Psychology, 58, 345-372.
- Tatum, S. (2017). DeVos anounces review of Obama-era sexual assault guidance. Retrieved September 16 2017, from CNN http://www.cnn.com/2017/09/07/politics/betsy-devoseducation-department-title-ix/index.html
- Thompson, R., Flaherty, E. G., English, D. J., Litrownik, A. J., Dubowitz, H., Kotch, J. B., & Runyan, D. K. (2015). Trajectories of adverse childhood experiences and self-reported health at age 18. *Academic Pediatrics*, 15(5), 503-509.
- Ullman, S. E., & Peter-Hagene, L. C. (2016). Longitudinal relationships of social reactions,
 PTSD, and revictimization in sexual assault survivors. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *31*(6), 1074-1094.
- White, W. (2016). Choices First Class. In. Old Dominion University: The Women's Center.
- Wilson, L. C., & Miller, K. E. (2016). Meta-analysis of the prevalence of unacknowledged rape. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 17*(2), 149-159.
- Wosu, A. C., Gelaye, B., & Williams, M. A. (2015). Childhood sexual abuse and posttraumatic stress disorder among pregnant and postpartum women: review of the literature. *Archives* of Women's Mental Health, 18(1), 61-72.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

SCRIPT FOR E-MAILS AND COMMUNICATION WITH STUDENTS

Researcher: Hello, I see that you're interested in participating in Green Dot at ODU. Green Dot will help you learn more about interpersonal violence and how to be an active bystander. Students who take part in Green Dot are eligible for my dissertation study. It would involve completing three surveys: right before you take part in Green Dot, right after you complete the program, and one month after you take part in the program. If you complete all three surveys, you will receive a total of \$15. Is it okay if I give you some more information about the study? Student: Yes please.

Researcher: Great! This is my e-mail address. Please contact me for more information. Thank you!³

If they say no the researcher will thank them for their time and give them a business card with the researcher's e-mail address and phone number in case they change their mind.

The day after the on-campus event the Women's Center will send the following e-mail: Hello,

Hope you're doing well! We spoke recently at an on-campus event. I work with the Women's Center, and specifically, with the Green Dot program. At the event we talked about my research study that will be examining students' experience within the Green Dot program. The study involves completing three online surveys. The first survey is the link at the end of this e-mail.

³ Due to Institutional Review Board stipulations the researcher is not allowed to collect student information prior to taking the survey. Only the Women's Center can collect contact information and reach out to the students.



The second online survey will be sent one week after you complete the Green Dot program. You will receive a \$5 online gift card for participating in the second online survey. One month after the Green Dot program, I will e-mail the final survey. You will receive a \$10 online gift card for completing the last survey—again, this will be one month after the Green Dot program. It is important that you complete all three online surveys. For that reason, you will receive a total of \$15 in online gift cards. The surveys will take approximately 30 minutes each. All the surveys are online, so you can take them at your convenience. Your participation is part of my dissertation research and surveying everyone that takes part in Green Dot is my goal. If you would like to participate, please click this link.

Thank you,

Brittany Hollis

*After clicking the link, the participants be redirected to the consent form (APPENDIX A).



APPENDIX B

NOTIFICATION STATEMENT

PROJECT TITLE: Efficacy of Green Dot Bystander Intervention: A Look at Previous Abuse and Relationship to the Victim or Perpetrator on Actual Bystander Behaviors The purposes of this form are to give you information that may affect your decision whether to say YES or NO to participation in this research, and to record the consent of those who say YES.

RESEARCHERS

Responsible Project Investigator, Michelle L. Kelley, Ph.D., Old Dominion University, Psychology Department Brittany Hollis, M.S., Old Dominion University, Psychology Department

DESCRIPTION OF RESEARCH STUDY

This study is interested in learning more about interpersonal relationships on campus. This is a three-part study in which you be asked to complete a survey today (before the Green Dot program), again in one week after the Green Dot program, and then again one month after the Green Dot program. After completing this survey, you will be compensated \$5. If you complete the follow-up survey in one week after you complete the Green Dot program, you will be paid \$10. If you complete the survey again in one month after the Green Dot program, you will receive \$30. Therefore, you could receive up to \$30.00 for your participation in this study. Some of the questions ask about previous trauma before entering Old Dominion University, as well as during your time on campus. These include questions about exposure to family violence, child abuse, or sexual assault. In addition, you will be asked whether you experienced traumatic events at Old Dominion University, specifically, have you ever perpetrated a violent act (i.e., sexual assault) and/or been the survivor of a violent act. The ultimate goal is to better understand when and how students intervene in potentially risky situations.

NEW INFORMATION

If the researchers find new information during this study that would reasonably change your decision about participating, then they give it to you.

WITHDRAWAL PRIVILEGE

It is OK for you to say NO. Even if you say YES now, you are free to say NO later, and walk away or withdrawal from the study – at any time. Your decision will not affect your relationship with Old Dominion University, or otherwise cause a loss of benefits to which you might otherwise be entitled. However, in order to be eligible for the gift card you must complete the entire survey.

VOLUNTARY PARTICIPATION

By participating in this research study, you are saying several things. You are saying that you have read this form or have had it read to you, that you are satisfied that you understand this form, the research study, and its risks and benefits. If you have any questions later on, then the researchers should be able to answer them:

Brittany Hollis at bholl019@odu.edu or 757-683-4209



Dr. Michelle L. Kelley at mkelley@odu.edu or 757-683-4459

If you have any questions about your rights as a participant in this research project, you should contact (anonymously, if you wish) Old Dominion University Office of Research Protection at 757-683-3460

Additionally, feel free to contact Dr. Tancy Vandecar-Burdin is the current IRB Chair (683-3802, tvandeca@odu.edu)

RISKS: Some of the questions ask about sensitive experiences that you may have had prior to and during attendance at Old Dominion University. Some people find that thinking about past experiences can cause negative feelings. You may be uncomfortable answering some of the sensitive questions. If you feel discomfort you may take a break and come back to the survey or choose not to answer any questions. The researchers keep your responses and results separate from your name, ensuring that all of your answers are confidential.

BENEFITS: There are no benefits to you directly, however, your participation may help increase our understanding of violence on campus.

Additionally, in the unlikely event that you call a student investigator and appear upset, we ask you to discontinue the survey. We will ask if it is okay to have Dr. Kelley call you. If you appear more than mildly upset (defined as distressed, crying), Dr. Kelley will ask if you would like to have someone to talk with, and with your permission, she will contact the ODU student counseling center and ask that they contact you to set up an appointment. Again, if you contact Dr. Kelley or the doctoral students, we make every effort to talk with you and ask if you would like to receive a phone call from a mental health clinician who specializes in working with students.

CONFIDENTIALITY

All information obtained about you in this study is strictly confidential unless disclosure is required by law. Although your e-mail address will be used to link the pre-test, with the post and follow-up the researchers will take reasonable steps to keep your information confidential. The results of this study may be used in reports, presentations and publications, but the researchers will not identify you. All information will be kept on a USB that is locked with a password, inside a locked drawer, in the department chairs office.

By clicking next you are giving your consent to participate.



APPENDIX C

ADVERSE CHILDHOOD EXPERIENCES

Felitti, V. J., Anda, R. F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D. F., Spitz, A. M., Edwards, V., ... & Marks, J. S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *14*(4), 245-258.

Abuse by category

While you were growing up during your first 18 years of life...

Psychological

Did a parent or other adult in the household		Yes	No
	Often or very often swear at, insult, or put you down?		
	Often or very often act in a way that made you afraid that you would be physically hurt?		
Physical			
Did a parent or other adult in the household			
	Often or very often push, grab, shove, or slap you?		
	Often or very often hit you so hard that you had marks or were injured?		
Sexual			
Did an adult or person at least 5 years older ever			
	Touch or fondle you in a sexual way?		
	Have you touch their body in a sexual way?		
	Attempt oral, anal, or vaginal intercourse with you?		
	Actually, have oral, anal, or vaginal intercourse with you?		
Household dysfunction by category			
Substance abuse			
	Live with someone who was a problem drinker or alcoholic?		



	Live with anyone who used street drugs?	
Mental illness		
	Was a household member depressed or mentally ill?	
	Did a household member attempt suicide?	
Mother treated violently		
Was your mother (or stepmother)		
	Sometimes, often, or very often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or had something thrown at her?	
	Sometimes, often, or very often kicked, bitten, hit with a fist, or hit with something hard?	
	Ever repeatedly hit over at least a few minutes?	
	Ever threatened with, or hurt by, a knife, or gun?	
Father treated violently		
Was your father (or stepfather)		
	Sometimes, often, or very often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or had something thrown at him?	
	Sometimes, often, or very often kicked, bitten, hit with a fist, or hit with something hard?	
	Ever repeatedly hit over at least a few minutes?	
	Ever threatened with, or hurt by, a knife, or gun?	
Criminal behavior in household		
	Did a household member go to prison?	

Note. The italicized words will not be in the actual survey they are just for clarity



APPENDIX D

SEXUAL SOCIAL NORMS INVENTORY – ADJUSTED (MALE)

Bruner, J. (2003). *Measuring rape supportive attitudes, behaviors and perceived norms: Validation of a social norms survey*. Doctoral Dissertation. Northern Colorado University.

Based on the scale below circle the number at right that indicates how you think the average male student at Old Dominion University would respond to the following statements:

1. If they witnessed a man pressuring a woman to leave with him, they would ask if everything was okay.

2. If they saw a man physically mistreating a woman, they would do something to help her.

3. If they saw a man put something in a woman's drink, they would tell her.

4. If they saw a man emotionally abusing a woman, they would try to help her.

5. If they witnessed a man hitting a woman, they would call the police.

6. If a man was sexually harassing a woman, they would stay out of it.

7. If they witnessed a rape, they would call the police.

8. They have a problem with men joking about scoring with women.

9. They feel uncomfortable if a friend brags about having sex.

10. They don't like when men use words like "slut' or "bitch" to insult women.

11. It's embarrassing when men they are with make sexual comments about women they don't know.

12. They would think it's fun to watch a porno with a group of friends.

13. If they thought a friend was lying to a woman to obtain sex, they would tell her.

14. They believe even if a woman has her clothes off, she still has the right to say no to sex.

15. They believe that only women who are promiscuous get raped.

16. They believe that being drunk is no excuse for forcing a woman to have sex.

17. They believe that even if a woman is dressed seductively, she does not deserve to be raped.

18. They believe that is a woman lets a man kiss her, it means she wants to have sex with him.

19. They believe that if a woman has been drinking, it is her fault if she gets raped.

20. If a male friend planned to give a woman drugs in order to have sex with her, they would try to stop him.

21. They believe that if a woman goes home with a man, it means she wants to have sex.

22. They believe that sometimes women say no to sex, so they don't seem easy.

23. They believe when a man is very sexually aroused, he may not realize that a woman is resisting his advances.

24. They would rather have a good relationship with one woman than sex with many different women.

1 = strongly disagree

2 = disagree

3 = disagree somewhat

4 = neither agree nor disagree

5 = agree somewhat

6 = agree

7 =strongly agree



APPENDIX E

SEXUAL SOCIAL NORMS INVENTORY – ADJUSTED (FEMALE)

Bruner, J. (2003). *Measuring rape supportive attitudes, behaviors and perceived norms: Validation of a social norms survey*. Doctoral Dissertation. Northern Colorado University.

Based on the scale below circle the number at right that indicates how you think the average female student at Old Dominion University would respond to the following statements:

- 1. If they witnessed a man pressuring a woman to leave with him, they would ask if everything was okay.
- 2. If they saw a man physically mistreating a woman, they would do something to help her.
- 3. If they saw a man put something in a woman's drink, they would tell her.
- 4. If they saw a man emotionally abusing a woman, they would try to help her.
- 5. If they witnessed a man hitting a woman, they would call the police.
- 6. If a man was sexually harassing a woman, they would stay out of it.
- 7. If they witnessed a rape, they would call the police.
- 8. They have a problem with men joking about scoring with women.
- 9. They feel uncomfortable if a friend brags about having sex.
- 10. They don't like when men use words like "slut' or "bitch" to insult women.
- 11. It's embarrassing when men they are with make sexual comments about women they don't know.
- 12. They would think it's fun to watch a porno with a group of friends.
- 13. If they thought a friend was lying to a woman to obtain sex, they would tell her.
- 14. They believe even if a woman has her clothes off, she still has the right to say no to sex.
- 15. They believe that only women who are promiscuous get raped.
- 16. They believe that being drunk is no excuse for forcing a woman to have sex.
- 17. They believe that even if a woman is dressed seductively, she does not deserve to be raped.
- 18. They believe that is a woman lets a man kiss her, it means she wants to have sex with him.
- 19. They believe that if a woman has been drinking, it is her fault if she gets raped.
- 20. If a male friend planned to give a woman drugs in order to have sex with her, they would try to stop him.
- 21. They believe that if a woman goes home with a man, it means she wants to have sex.
- 22. They believe that sometimes women say no to sex, so they don't seem easy.
- 23. They believe when a man is very sexually aroused, he may not realize that a woman is resisting his advances.
- 24. They would rather have a good relationship with one man than sex with many different men.
- 1 = strongly disagree
- 2 = disagree
- 3 = disagree somewhat
- 4 = neither agree nor disagree


5 = agree somewhat 6 = agree 7 = strongly agree

APPENDIX F

BYSTANDER SELF-EFFICACY

Banyard, V. L., Plante, E. G., & Moynihan, M. M. (2005). *Rape Prevention Through Bystander Education: Final Report.* Washington DC: US Department of Justice. Document no. 208701.

Please answer the following questions about what you think about "violence prevention." Violence is when people fight or hurt others on purpose. Violence prevention means keeping violence from happening or stopping violence before it starts.

- 1. People's violent behavior can be prevented.
- 2. There are certain things a person can do to prevent violence.
- 3. I myself can make a difference in helping prevent violence.
- 4. People can be taught to help prevent violence.
- 5. Doing or saying certain kinds of things can work to help prevent violence.
- 6. I can learn to do or say the kinds of things that help prevent violence.
- 7. People can learn to become someone who helps others avoid violence.
- 8. Even people who are not involved in a fight can do things to help prevent violence.
- 9. Even when I'm not involved and it's not about me, I can make a difference in helping prevent violence.
- 1 = disagree completely
- 2 = disagree a lot
- 3 = disagree a little
- 4 = agree a little
- 5 = agree a lot
- 6 = agree completely



APPENDIX G

BYSTANDER ATTITUDES

McMahon, S. (2010). Rape myth beliefs and bystander attitudes among incoming college students. *Journal of American College Health*, *59*(1), 3-11.

How likely are you to engage in this behavior...

1. Ask for verbal consent when I am intimate with my partner, even if we are in a long-term relationship.

2. Stop sexual activity when asked to, even if I am already sexually aroused.

3. Check in with my friend who looks drunk when s/he goes to a room with someone else at a party.

4. Say something to my friend who is taking a drunk person back to his/her room at a party.

5. Challenge a friend who made a sexist joke.

6. Express my concern if a family member makes a sexist joke.

7. Use the word "ho," "bitch," or "slut" to describe girls.

8. Challenge a friend who uses "ho," "bitch," or "slut" to describe girls.

9. Confront a friend who plans to give someone alcohol to get sex.

10. Refuse to participate in activities where girls' appearances are ranked/rated.

11. Listen to music that includes "ho," bitch," or "slut."

12. Confront a friend who is hooking up with someone who was passed out.

13. Confront a friend if I hear rumors that s/he forced sex on someone.

14. Report a friend that committed a rape.

15. Stop having sex with a partner if s/he says to stop, even if it started consensually.

16. Decide not to have sex with a partner if s/he is drunk.

1 = not likely

- 2 =
- 3 =
- 4 =

5 = extremely likely



APPENDIX H

BYSTANDER BEHAVIOR VIGNETTES (DIRECT, DELEGATE, DISTRACT,

INDIRECT)

Palmer, J. E., Nicksa, S. C., & McMahon, S. (2016). Does who you know affect how you act? The impact of relationships on bystander intervention in interpersonal violence situations. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, doi:10.1177/0886260516628292.

Students will randomly get one of 3 options below

The following are open-ended questions: *Sexual Assault Scenario*

What actions would you be most likely to take in the following situation...

GROUP 1: You are at a party and go upstairs to use the bathroom. A few minutes ago you noticed [your friend, Crystal,] go upstairs with [a guy.] They had been flirting all night and were going to watch some TV. The walls in the apartment are thin, so you can hear them talking in the next room. You hear [Crystal] say, "Alright, Mike, let's finish this TV show." In a few more minutes, you hear [Crystal] say, "Really, stop. I need to go home." Then: "Mike, get off of me. Let go of me!" You can see through a crack in the door that he is moving on top of her, and his pants are down. [Crystal] is crying.

GROUP 2: You are at a party and go upstairs to use the bathroom. A few minutes ago you noticed [a girl] go upstairs with [a guy.] They had been flirting all night and were going to watch some TV. The walls in the apartment are thin, so you can hear them talking in the next room. You hear [the girl] say, "Alright, Mike, let's finish this TV show." In a few more minutes, you hear [the girl] say, "Really, stop. I need to go home." Then: "Mike, get off of me. Let go of me!" You can see through a crack in the door that he is moving on top of her, and his pants are down. [The girl] is crying.

GROUP 3: You are at a party and go upstairs to use the bathroom. A few minutes ago you noticed [a girl] go upstairs with [your friend John.] They had been flirting all night and were going to watch some TV. The walls in the apartment are thin, so you can hear them talking in the next room. You hear [the girl] say, "Alright, John, let's finish this TV show." In a few more minutes, you hear [the girl] say, "Really, stop. I need to go home." Then: "John, get off of me. Let go of me!" You can see through a crack in the door that he is moving on top of her, and his pants are down. [The girl] is crying.

GROUP 4: You are at a party and go upstairs to use the bathroom. A few minutes ago you noticed [your friend, Crystal,] go upstairs with [your friend, Mike.] They had been flirting all night and were going to watch some TV. The walls in the apartment are thin, so you can hear them talking in the next room. You hear [Crystal] say, "Alright, Mike, let's finish this TV show." In a few more minutes, you hear [Crystal] say, "Really, stop. I need to go home." Then: "Mike,



get off of me. Let go of me!" You can see through a crack in the door that he is moving on top of her, and his pants are down. [Crystal] is crying.



Students will randomly get one of 3 options below

The following are open-ended questions: Intimate Partner Violence Scenario

What actions would you be most likely to take in the following situation...

GROUP 1: You are in the student center eating lunch with a few of your friends. You notice [your friend John] with [his girlfriend]. You and your friends can see that it looks like he is yelling at her and she looks scared or upset. Suddenly he punches the wall. Your friend says, "She looks scared, we should do something".

GROUP 2: You are in the student center eating lunch with a few of your friends. You notice [a girl and a guy] in an intense conversation. You can see that it looks like he is yelling at her and she looks scared or upset. Suddenly he punches the wall. Your friend says, "She looks scared, we should do something".

Group 3: You are in the student center eating lunch with a few of your friends. You notice [your friend Crystal] with [her boyfriend]. You and your friends can see that it looks like he is yelling at her and she looks scared or upset. Suddenly he punches the wall. Your friend says, "She looks scared, we should do something".

GROUP 4: You are in the student center eating lunch with a few of your friends. You notice [your friend John] with [your friend, Crystal]. You and your friends can see that it looks like he is yelling at her and she looks scared or upset. Suddenly he punches the wall. Your friend says, "She looks scared, we should do something".



Students will randomly get one of 3 options below

The following are open-ended questions: *Stalking Scenario*

What actions would you be most likely to take in the following situation...

GROUP 1: You are in the quad with a few of your friends when [your friend John] starts to talk about [a girl] whom he met on a dating website for locals. He says, "We went out once, but she told me she never wanted to see me again. Too bad because I've been harassing her on social media ever since and sending graphic pictures to her phone."

GROUP 2: You are in the quad with a few of your friends when [a guy] starts to talk about [a girl] whom he met on a dating website for locals. He says, "We went out once, but she told me she never wanted to see me again. Too bad because I've been harassing her on social media ever since and sending graphic pictures to her phone."

Group 3: You are in the quad with a few of your friends when [a guy] starts to talk about [your friend Crystal] whom he met on a dating website for locals. He says, "We went out once, but she told me she never wanted to see me again. Too bad because I've been harassing her on social media ever since and sending graphic pictures to her phone."

Group 4: You are in the quad with a few of your friends when [your friend, John] starts to talk about [your friend, Crystal] whom he met on a dating website for locals. He says, "We went out once, but she told me she never wanted to see me again. Too bad because I've been harassing her on social media ever since and sending graphic pictures to her phone."

Indirect

- -Talk to Crystal/the girl later and find out what's going on.
- -Talk to Crystal/the girl later and give her resources to get help.
- -Talk to John/the guy later and give him resources to get help.

Delegate

-Call someone I know is sensitive to this issue and ask for his/her assistance or advice.

- Call the police and let them know about the situation.

-Ask someone close to John/the guy to talk him about boundaries.

Direct

-Go up to them and tell [John/the guy] not to treat her that way.

-Tell Crystal/the girl to report him to the police.



Conceptual categories and survey response options

	Response Options	
	SA Vignette	IPV Vignette
Indirect	Cause some kind of distraction (make your phone ring, make a loud noise) to interrupt them and let them know you're outside the door.	Walk by them and cause some kind of distraction (e.g., talking loudly, coughing loudly) to interrupt them. Go up to them and pretend like you need to talk to them (e.g., you need directions, you need to use one of their phones).
	Find [Crystal/the girl/the girlfriend] later to ask if she's OK.	Find [Crystal/the girl] later and try to find out what was going on.
	Find [Crystal/the girl/the girlfriend] later to give her information or hotline numbers for help.	Find [Crystal/the girl] later and give her information so she can get help.
	Talk to John later to try to find out what was going on. ¹	Find [John/the guy/the boyfriend] later and try to find out what was going on.
	Talk to John later and give him information so he can get help. ¹	Find [John/the guy/the boyfriend] later and give him information so he can get help.



Delegate	Call someone I know is sensitive to this issue and ask for his/her assistance or advice.	Call a friend or someone who you know that is sensitive to this issue and ask for his/her assistance or advice.
	Contact a friend and ask them to come over and help make sure [John/the guy] leaves.	Find a public safety officer or other university staff member to help you interrupt the situation.
	Call the police during the incident and report that [the girl/Crystal] needs help.	Call the police or public safety officer and report that [someone/Crystal) needs help.
Direct	"[Crystal?] Is everything OK?" during the incident.	Go up to them and ask, "Is everything OK?"
	Go into the room and tell [the guy/John] he should leave.	Go up to them and tell [John/the boyfriend] not to talk to her that way.

¹Only included when scenario included known perpetrator.



APPENDIX I

BYSTANDER BEHAVIORS

McMahon, S., Postmus, J. L., & Koenick, R. A. (2011). Conceptualizing the engaging bystander approach to sexual violence prevention on college campuses. *Journal of College Student Development*, *52*(1), 115-130.

Have you engaged in the following behavior in the past 1 month?

Question

1. Ask for verbal consent when I am intimate with my partner, even if we are in a long-term relationship*

2. Stop sexual activity when asked to, even if I am already sexually aroused*

3. Check in with my friend who looks drunk when s/he goes to a room with someone else at a party*

4. Say something to my friend who is taking a drunk person back to his/her room at a party*

5. Challenge a friend who made a sexist joke*

- 6. Express my concern if a family member makes a sexist joke*
- 7. Use the word "ho," "bitch," or "slut" to describe girls when I was with my friends

8. Challenge a friend who uses "ho," "bitch," or "slut" to describe girls

- 9. Confront a friend who plans to give someone alcohol to get sex
- 10. Refuse to participate in activities where girls' appearances are ranked/rated
- 11. Listen to music that includes "ho," "bitch," or "slut"
- 12. Confront a friend who is hooking up with someone who was passed out
- 13. Confront a friend if I hear rumors that s/he forced sex on someone
- 14. Report a friend that committed a rape
- 15. Stop having sex with a partner if s/he says to stop, even if it started consensually

16. Decide not to have sex with a partner if s/he is drunk. Note. * indicate reverse coding

Response Yes No Wasn't in the situation



APPENDIX J

DEMOGRAPHICS

What is your age?

• Age

What is your year in school?

- Freshman
- Sophomore
- Junior
- Senior
- Post-bachelors (i.e., master's student)

What is your biological sex?

- Female
- Male
- Other

What is your preferred gender identity?

- Female
- Male
- Genderqueer
- Non-binary
- Other

How would you describe yourself? (Choose one or more)

- American Indian or Alaska Native
- Asian
- Black or African American
- Hispanic or Latino/Latina
- Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
- White
- Other

What is the highest level of schooling your mother or father has completed (select whichever is higher)?

- Some elementary, middle, or high school
- High school graduate
- GED



- Vocational school
- Some college
- College graduate
- Master's degree
- Doctorate
- Professional degree such as MD, JD, Nursing

People are different in their sexual attraction to other people. Which best describes your feelings? Are you:

- Only attracted to females
- Mostly attracted to females
- Equally attracted to females and males
- Mostly attracted to males
- Only attracted to males
- Not sure
- Other

Which of the following best describes your dating, sexual or romantic relationship status?

- Never dated
- Not currently dating
- I go out on dates but I'm not in a dating, sexual or romantic relationship
- I am in a dating, sexual or romantic relationship, but not living together
- I am currently married or living with my partner

Are you a full-time or part-time student?

- Full-time
- Part-time
- Other, please specify

Where do you currently live?

- On-campus dorm, apartment or house
- Fraternity or sorority house
- Off-campus

With whom do you live?

- Live alone
- With my parents or other adult relatives
- With a roommate/roommates (not a romantic partner)
- With my husband/wife,
- Boyfriend/girlfriend or other romantic partner



Have you ever participated in a violence prevention program (e.g., Green Dot) previously?

- Yes
- No
 - If so, what was the name of the program?

143

This study is a three-part study. You will take the first survey, then a week later be e-mailed the second, and then one month later you will receive the third. Please provide us with the e-mail address that you regularly use so we can send you the next survey (i.e., student@odu.edu).

E-mail address Telephone number



APPENDIX K

RESOURCES

Thank you for participating!

The following are hotline numbers that may be useful for you, a friend, or a family member. All these hotlines have staff available to talk 24-7. The phone calls are free and anonymous.

If someone needs to talk about feeling alone, sad or depressed Call 1-800-784-2433.

The National Domestic Violence Hotline 1-800-799-7233 (SAFE) www.ndvh.org

National Dating Abuse Helpline 1-866-331-9474 www.loveisrespect.org

National Sexual Assault Hotline 1-800-656-4673 (HOPE) www.rainn.org

National Suicide Prevention Lifeline 1-800-273-8255 (TALK) www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org

National Center for Victims of Crime 1-202-467-8700 www.victimsofcrime.org

National Resource Center on Domestic Violence 1-800-537-2238 www.nrcdv.org and www.vawnet.org

Futures Without Violence: The National Health Resource Center on Domestic Violence 1-888-792-2873 www.futureswithoutviolence.org

National Center on Domestic Violence, Trauma & Mental Health 1-312-726-7020 ext. 2011 www.nationalcenterdytraumamh.org



Campus Resources ODU Women's Center 1000 Webb University Center Norfolk, VA. 23529 757-683-4109 womenctr@odu.edu

<u>ODU Counseling Services</u> 1526 W 49th St, Norfolk, VA 23529 757-683-4401

LiveSafe app

Community resources <u>YWCA</u> 500 E. Plume St. Ste. 700 Norfolk, VA. 23510 757-625-1946 Crisis hotline: 757-251-0144 info@ywca-shr.org

Thank you for your participation in this research project. The information provided by these questionnaires will help psychology researchers and clinicians learn more about characteristics and variables related to college students' understanding of and engagement in risky situations.

Researcher: Brittany F. Hollis Mills Godwin Building #232 703-473-7147 bholl019@odu.edu

Faculty Researcher: Michelle L. Kelley Mills Godwin Building #250 757-683-4459 mkelley@odu.edu



Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey!

We appreciate your time!



Debriefing for student's once they have completed all 3 parts of the study

APPENDIX L

DEBREIFING⁴

Thank you for your participation in this study. Psychologists are interested in understanding how and why individuals intervene, or do not intervene, in aggressive or violent situations where they are neither the aggressor nor the victim. Some studies have indicated that, for example, teaching and training individuals (via bystander intervention trainings) how to safely intervene when they witness a violent situation that their consequential behavior will change. This is a relatively new area of research, however, and psychologists have not examined the effects of these types of trainings over time. Our experiment is concerned with how effective these training programs are and how we can improve them. Our study addresses this issue.

Our study is addressing how effective a bystander program is at Old Dominion University. More specifically, we are investigating whether this bystander program increases actual bystander behavior over time. Additionally, some research suggests that social norms influence our decisions as to whether to intervene or not. For example, if we believe our peers are more likely to approve of our behavior, we are more likely to behave in that manner, as opposed to if we believe our peers do not approve. We also looked at if previous experiences influenced current bystander behavior. Previous research is severely lacking in this area. We do not know if previous violent and aggressive experiences will influence current bystander behavior, which is why we are examining it in this study. The question of interest is what predicts bystander behavior to improve campus safety? We want to make Old Dominion a safe and happy place where students feel free to learn and express themselves without fear.

All the information we collected in this study will be confidential. We are not interested in any one individual's responses; we want to look at the general patterns that emerge when the data are aggregated together.

Your participation is appreciated and will help psychologists discover more ways of promoting prosocial behavior. We ask that you do not discuss the nature of the study with others who may later participate in it, as this could affect the validity of our research conclusions. If you have any questions or concerns, you are welcome to talk with Brittany Hollis at bholl019@odu.edu in the Old Dominion University Psychology Department. If you have any other questions about your rights as a participant in this research project, you should contact (anonymously, if you wish) Old Dominion University Office of Research Protection at 757-683-3460.

THANK YOU AGAIN FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION.

⁴ Modeled after: Smith, Jane (1990). *Emotions, arousal, and judgments: A model of affect and stereotyping.*



APPENDIX M

TRAINER FIDELITY CHECKLIST

Fidelity Assessment	
Pre-module Introduction	
person	al introduction (instructor)
	is engaging from the start builds a relationship with the audience (e.g., uses authenticity, humor, vulnerability, or emotional connection)
	connects the audience to the issue
Trainii	ng basics & icebreakers
	clickers are introduced
	teams are created
	icebreakers are engaging and fun
Defini	tions & scope of the issue
	power-based personal violence is defined in inclusive terms
	stats are relevant or the audience
	impact of PBPV clicker questions instructor's emotional response reflects the anonymous disclosures of violence
Person	al connection activity
	instructor has shared a personal connection of their own (may have been earlier in the content)
	instructor creates an open, comfortable space for students to write and reflect
Green	Dot summary & Practice
	map is highlighted
	red dots defined with examples
	proactive green dots defined with examples
	reactive green dots defined with examples
	green dot in 30 seconds or less activity & practice
MODULE 1: in	troducing the bystander
Unders	standing the role of bystander
	bystander activity (pick at least one activity, helps students connect to their role and personal line as a bystander)
	bystander choice (Do something or do nothing) explained
	personal creed activity
MODULE 2: red	cognizing red dots
Conne	ction slips read



instructor creates a comfortable space for connections

instructor is emotional connected

Recognizing red dots

instructor uses the bystander lens

warning signs reflect both behaviors of person exhibiting red dot behaviors and person on receiving end

instructor uses gender inclusive language (and does not use

victim/perpetrator language)

each form of violence is defined

red dot activity (pick at least one activity, students understand relevant behaviors they might recognize)

take a second look activity

bystander reminders are clear (take a second look, check-in, what if it were someone I love?)

MODULE 3: reactive green dots

Connection slips read

instructor creates a comfortable space for connections

instructor is emotionally connected

Barriers to action

bystander clicker questions

team scramble activity

types of barriers defined (personal, relationship, general)

barrier activity (pick at least one activity)

students are connected to their own barriers

Reactive green dot solutions: 3 d's

direct, delegate and distract are defined with examples

bystander safety is clearly noted

3D clicker questions

role play speed round activity

reactive green dot activity (pick at least one activity)

students are equipped with reactive solutions

MODULE 4: proactive green dots

Connection slips read

instructor creates a comfortable space for connections instructor is emotionally connected

Proactive green dots

two new norms defined (violence will not be tolerated, AND everyone needs to do their part)

map is highlighted again with connection to reactive and proactive

setting campus norms activity

communicating norms activity

lots of proactive green dot examples given



barriers to proactive green dots explained proactive options defined with examples proactive green dot activity (pick at least one activity) students are equipped with proactive options peer influence clearly defined students connected to their own ability to influence others commitment activity (pick at least one activity) soapbox activity chip speed round



VITA

	Brittany F. Hollis, M.S., Doctoral Candidate
Education	
Ph.D.	Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA
	Advisor Dr. Michalla Kallay
	Advisor. Dr. Michelle Kelley
	(Expected December, 2018)
M.S.	Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA
	Applied Experimental Psychology
	December, 2015
DC	Old Deminism University Norfalls VA
B.S.	Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA
	Major: Psychology
	Double Minor: Criminal Justice & Women's Studies
	May 2013
Manuscripts	-

1. Kelley, M. L., Bravo, A. J., & Hollis, B.F. (2017). Work stressors, depressive symptoms, and hazardous drinking among Navy members across deployment. *Military Psychology*. Apr 20, 2017, No Pagination Specified.

2. Hollis, B. F., Kelley, M. L., & Bravo, A. J. (2017). Pre-military abuse, mental health, and hazardous alcohol use among military personnel. *Journal of Substance Use*, *22*, 187-191.

3. Kelley, M. L., Milletich, R. J., Hollis, B. F., Veprinsky, A., Robbins, A. T., & Snell, A. K. (2017). Social support and relationship satisfaction as moderators of the stress-mood-alcohol link in U.S. Navy members at predeployment. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 205, 99-105.

4. Bravo, A. J., Kelley, M. L., & Hollis, B. F. (2017). Social support, depressive symptoms, and hazardous alcohol use among navy members: An examination of social support as a protective factor across deployment, *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, *35*, 603-704.

5. Kelley, M. L., Milletich, R. J., Hollis, B. F., Green, R. E., Davis, C. A., Haislip, B. N., Henson, J. M. (2016). Acceptability of peer aggression among children who reside with substance-abusing parents. *Journal of Child Custody. Published online: 17 Nov 2016.*

6. Bravo, A. J., Kelley, M. L., & Hollis, B. F. (2016). Work stressors, sleep quality, and alcohol-related problems across deployment: A parallel process latent growth modeling approach among Navy members. *Stress & Health, Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, Oct 10th, 2016, No Pagination Specified.

7. Kelley, M.L., Hollis, B.F., Milletich, R.J., Henson, J.M., Cooke, C.G., Kurtz, E.D. (2015). Childcare involvement, satisfaction with one's partner as a parent, and dyadic satisfaction among fathers with substance use disorders and their nonsubstance-abusing partners. *Fathering: A Journal of Research, Theory, and Practice about Men as Fathers*.

8. Kelley, M. L., White, T. D., Milletich, R. J., Hollis, B. F., Haislip, B. N., Heidt, E. J., Davis, C., & Henson, J. M. (2015). Youth emotional reactivity, interparental conflict, parent hostility, and worrying among children with substance-abusing parents. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*.

9. Kelley, M. L., Lawrence, H.R., Milletich, R.J., Hollis, B.F., & Henson, J. M. (2015). Modeling risk for child abuse and harsh parenting in families with depressed and substance-abusing parents. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *43*, 42-52.

10. Linden, A. N., Lau-Barraco, C., & Hollis, B. F. (2013). Associations between psychological distress and alcohol outcomes as mediated by time perspective orientation among college students. *Mental Health and Substance Use*, 7(2), 134-143.

